
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held virtually on Monday, 9 November 2020 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the 
following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can attend the meeting 
will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 6)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


6. Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service (Pages 7 - 16)

7. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 (Pages 17 - 44)

8. Communications Strategy Report to follow

9. Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service (Pages 45 - 56)

10.Additional Resources - Phase 2 of the expansion of the workforce within 
DSO Building Management 

(Pages 57 - 70)

11.De-merger of the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (Pages 71 - 78)

12.General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2020/21 - Quarter Two (Pages 79 - 
102)

13.Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  - Quarter Two 
2020/21 

(Pages 103 - 
120)

14.Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held 
on Wednesday, 9 September 2020 

(Pages 121 - 
128)

15.Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday, 8 October 2020 

(Pages 129 - 
134)

16.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

17.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

18.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 



Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Substitutes: To be notified



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cabinet

Monday, 5 October 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning & Development)
Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services (Medway Council)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
Dave Herrington Digital Services Manager
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

32. Apologies for absence 

The Chair tendered an apology on behalf of Cllr Lenny Rolles, who had experienced 
connectivity issues, for his absence at the start of the meeting. 

33. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2020 were signed by the Chair.

34. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what 
their interest is. 

No declarations of interest were made.

35. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

The Leader reported that he had taken a delegated decision to purchase a property at 147 
Wrotham Road, Gravesend, Kent DA11 0QL.

The Portfolio Holder for Community & Leisure advised that “A Creative Gravesham – An Arts 
and Culture Strategy 2020-2025” and “The Modern Slavery Strategy” had been approved at 

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 5.10.2020

2

the meeting of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee on 15 September 2020 and the 
requisite paperwork would be published on the website shortly.

The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Environment reported that he had approved the S18 Stage 
2 consultation of the Local Plan under his delegated powers.

36. Former Police Station Site, Windmill Street - Possible Compulsory 
Purchase Order Requirement 

The Director (Planning & Development) introduced the report and advised that it was 
somewhat similar to the report that had been submitted to the last meeting of Cabinet with 
regard to the Canal Basin area (Albion Waterside). The report asked for the authority in 
principal for the making of a Compulsory Purchase Order in relation to the Former Police 
Station Site, Windmill Street, Gravesend. Members were advised that contracts were 
believed to have been exchanged for the acquisition of this site, yet to be corroborated by 
the Official Receiver. The request for the Compulsory Purchase Order had come about due 
to the fact that the site had been vacant for sometime and had become an eyesore. Formal 
and informal proposals had been considered with permissions granted and further 
conditional resolutions to grant permission made, but with no further progress.  An Order 
was felt to be the correct tool to effect the progression of the development of the site if the 
current purchaser failed to deliver the development in a timely manner.

The Chair noted that he felt that this was a very positive way forward as the development of 
the site had been awaited for a number of years and it was right that the Council should take 
the lead. 

Following a question from the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Environment, the Director 
(Planning & Development) confirmed that this decision would be held in reserve should 
negotiations on the development of the site progress. Cabinet was advised that there was a 
buyer interested in the site but no direct contact had yet been made with the Council’s 
planning department.  Therefore, the Council was not aware if the buyer was interested in 
delivering a scheme in line with the previous planning permission granted on the site or 
would wish to look at an alternative scheme which would eventually be submitted to the 
Planning Committee for consideration.

Resolved that authorisation be delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation with 
the Leader of the Executive and others officers as appropriate, to progress the 
making of a Compulsory Purchase Order for the land as outlined in red on the plan 
attached at Appendix 2 of the report, in the event that the new owner of the site does 
not progress development of the site within a reasonable period of time.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 7.43 pm

Page 6



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 09 November 2020

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Cabinet with a copy of the annual review that has been 
conducted in respect of the Payroll Shared Service with Medway Council

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since April 2017, the council has had in place a service arrangement with 
Medway Council for the provision of Payroll services. This involved the transfer of 
one Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff member who was employed within 
the Payroll Service at GBC to Medway Council.

1.2 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 16 April 2019), a formal review of the service arrangement is to be 
undertaken on an annual basis.

2. Annual Review

2.1 The annual review of the Payroll Shared Service arrangement was undertaken in 
September 2020 and reported to the Gravesham Borough Council Management 
Team accordingly.

2.2 A copy of the final review document is attached at appendix two for Member 
perusal.

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



2

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are held by the Director (Corporate 
Services). Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, 
be directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements

Page 8



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard to the following 
legislation:
1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 

place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of 
another local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties, 
and

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authority 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012, 
which enables a local authority to delegate certain functions to another local 
authority.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

In respect of the 2019-20 financial year, the payment to Medway Council for the 
provision of Payroll Services was £40,000.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and ongoing monitoring that takes place has shown that the 
service is meeting its objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The delivery of a shared service contributes to objective number three:
Progress - an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment

Page 9

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Climate Change There are no specific climate change implications resulting from this report

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults’ implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 10



                    

Review of the Payroll Shared Service

(Shared service Commenced: April 2017)

Author(s): Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services) at Gravesham Borough Council 
and Phil Watts, Chief Finance Officer at Medway Council

Date: October 2020

Page 11



Review of the Payroll Shared Service

October 2020

Page 2

In line with all shared service/shared working arrangements, it is necessary to undertake an annual 
review of the arrangement.  The purpose of the review is two-fold; to ensure that the shared service 
is delivering against its agreed objectives and to identify any improvements/changes that need to be 
made to ensure the successful continuation of the arrangement.

The objectives identified for the Payroll shared service are as follows:

 Resilience to the service provision; Employee’s, members and casuals (e.g. working on elections) 
paid on a monthly basis on specified date 

 Maintenance of integrated HR system and provision of access and information to support the HR 
function within GBC 

 Provision of Self-service function reducing administrative impact on HR 

 Provision of Pension administration service 

 Provision of Financial reports which integrate with General Ledger 

Page 12



Review of the Payroll Shared Service

October 2020

Page 3

Review Findings

How is the shared service operating?
1. Has the shared service delivered on the objectives that are set out on page two of the review 

document?

Yes  No In part

The payroll shared service continues to provide greater resilience to that operated by 
Gravesham (GBC) prior to its implementation, when the service was effectively delivered by 
0.6FTE Payroll Officer with HR staff providing support and often detracting from their own 
work load.  Following a restructure of the Payroll Team within Financial Services at Medway 
Council (MC), additional officers have become involved in the day to day running of the 
Gravesham Payroll, with oversight provided by the Pensions and GBC Payroll Team Leader 
(who was previously the Payroll Officer at GBC).

The GBC monthly payroll for employees, Members, casual staff and, when required, those 
involved in election duties has been prepared by MC Payroll in accordance with the agreed 
schedule and there have been no delays in processing and making payroll payments during 
the year.

MC has maintained the integrated HR system (SS4U) with appropriate access to information 
granted to the HR and Finance functions within GBC.

MC has provided a self-service function for GBC Staff in respect of leave booking, submission 
of travel and subsistence claims, overtime claims and maintenance of personal details.  Whilst 
this has reduced the administrative impact on HR, the self-service function would benefit 
from further development. An update on this can be found under section 7.

MC has provided a pension administration service to GBC.

MC has provided financial reports and files to enable automated uploading of payroll 
information to the GBC General Ledger, though opportunities continue to exist to further 
review and enhance how GBC salaries monitoring information is produced. It is believed that 
further development on this side could improve the service to Gravesham.

The payment to MC from GBC for provision of the service was as budgeted for 2019-20.

2. Have there been any other, unforeseen benefits, as a result of the shared service? 

Yes  No

The shared service arrangement continues to provide opportunities to develop working 
relationships and is particularly helpful given the shared service arrangement for HR Services 
between the two councils.

Page 13



Review of the Payroll Shared Service

October 2020

Page 4

3. Have there been any unforeseen issues or problems resulting from the shared service?

Yes No 

COVID19, as it has many aspects of all Councils, has prevented development to move forward 
this year as would have been liked or anticipated. This has not prevented the service from 
paying the staff on time each month.

4. What has been the financial impact of the shared service on both authorities? 

The cost to Gravesham in 2019/20 was £40,000 (as budgeted), with Medway receiving this 
payment to cover the costs it has incurred.

5. Feedback from officers involved in the shared service:

There are still improvements which could be made to the system and Medway Council is 
embarking on a major transformation of the service following a review of the position of the 
service. Medway Council has just started a consultation with its staff to bring the service back 
under HR and to move the product forward.

Moving forward with the shared service
6. Based on the review that has been undertaken will the shared service continue to operate?

Yes  No

Key areas of focus for the coming year are as follows:

 Please see details under section 7 which shows a comprehensive list of changes being 
reviewed and brought in over the coming year

 KPIs and monitoring

7. If the shared service is to continue to operate, what are the key areas of focus for the coming 
year for both authorities?

The service moved to a hosted solution as from November 2019 has enabled IT support to be 
provided by the supplier rather than an inhouse resource.

 A review of processes has started but has been slowed down due to other working 
pressures. 

Page 14



Review of the Payroll Shared Service

October 2020

Page 5

 Medway Council have recognised the need for greater system support and development 
and is currently in consultation with staff regarding the staffing structure in all areas of 
the service. This is designed to strengthen the resource available.

 The System is due an upgrade within the next month so that staff can upload receipts 
themselves and remove the need for documents to be flowing backwards and forwards 
between the two Councils.

Following the upgrade and the staffing restructure the plan for the improvement of the 
product will be produced and a plan designed to see the implementation of the plan.

Summary of recommendations

1. There is a need to hold quarterly service review meetings and these should be 
established moving forward. This was delayed due to COVID 19 but will become 
even more critical moving forward due to the changes of responsible 
departments at Medway and planned development of the system.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 9 November 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby - Chief Executive

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the Members of Cabinet with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Two 2020-21 (July 
to September 2020).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Cabinet with a statistical overview of the 
council’s performance against the Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2020-21, 
covering the period July to September 2020. 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



2

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle to Cabinet and relevant Cabinet Committees. 

2.4 Following Cabinet’s review, all Cabinet Committees will be presented with 
individual performance reports tailored to the respective portfolio responsibilities. 
Alongside statistical content, these will provide more detailed contextual or 
qualitative updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to 
be taken, to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s corporate objectives and 
policy commitments.   

 

3. Executive performance: summary

3.1 Appendix Two provides a summary of corporate performance in the last reporting 
quarter, with the following key statistical headlines:

 64% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 36% of reported indicators have fallen in their level of performance.

3.2 Specifically in consideration of the adopted corporate objectives, the following 
headlines can be presented for the last reporting quarter:

 People: 67% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 Place: 70% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 Progress: 40% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance.

3.3 This report is for information purposes only.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 18



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 19

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 20



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C A B I N E T
Performance   report 
Q  2  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

P
age 21



Q 2   P E R F O R M A N C E   S U M M A R Y 

57%

91%

39%

50%

67%64%
67%

42%

40%

70%

50%

80%

67% 67%

40%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q2
2019-20

Q3
2019-20

Q4
2019-20

Q1
2020-21

Q2
2020-21

Corporate Objective: % PIs maintained or improved performance

People Place Progress

58%

82%

44%

50%

64%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q2
2019-20

Q3
2019-20

Q4
2019-20

Q1
2020-21

Q2
2020-21

Overall: % PIs maintained or improved performance

Overall Performance

P
age 22



5 - 8Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

P O R T F O L I O   I N D E X 

Leader's Portfolio: 1 - 3

9 - 12Cllr B. Sangha
Strategic Environment: 

Commercial Services: 

Cllr J. Burden 

4Cllr L. Rolles 

Community & Leisure: 

Housing Services: 20 - 21

Operational Services: 13 - 16Cllr L. Croxton 

Performance & Administration: 17 - 19Cllr N. Thandi

Cllr J. Wallace 

P
age 23



P I  6 Total CO2 emissions in the borough (kt)     (refers two years previous) P I  25 % satisfaction with Customer Services (Reception)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

470.0 470.2 N/A 82.2% 82.5% 81.1% N/A N/A

P I  7 Total CO2 emissions from council assets (kt)             (refers to previous year) P I  27 % of council car parks awarded Park Mark status

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

2.5 44% 89% 89% 100% 100% 100%Annual indicator
O U T T U R N

Annual indicator

Carbon neutral borough: in declaring a climate emergency, begin to take action to prepare Gravesham 
to become carbon neutral by 2030.

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N

#1 PEOPLE Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive 

borough their home.

Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to all. 

O U T T U R N 

A sound car parking offer: support the local living environment with suitable and competitive parking 
provision, maintained by an effective enforcement regime.

Annual indicator

O U T T U R N 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

200

300

400

500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

0

1

2

3

Q3
2019 - 20

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 1 of 21

P
age 24



P I  48 % of income from commercial activity in relation to net revenue spend P I  51 Total number of online self-help forms completed

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

18.6% 71,366 43,668 55,070 62,198 88,787 49,501

P I  52 % of workforce IT-enabled for remote working

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

63.7%Annual indicator Annual indicator
O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden 

Annual indicatorAnnual indicator
O U T T U R N 

Digital innovation: provide the platforms for intelligent customer insight and a quality digital experience, 
and the IT solutions to transform services, delivering a dynamic working environment.

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, 
underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

#3 PROGRESS

A financially innovative council: design a suite of initiatives to achieve genuine financial independence 
and generate the income required for our enhanced frontline offer.

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

5%

10%

15%

20%

Q4
2019 - 20

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 2 of 21

P
age 25



P I  53 % gender pay gap across council staff P I  57 % meeting attendance rate of councillors

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

a) Mean 6.1% 90% 82% 87% 88% 96% 91%

b) Median -0.6%

P I  54 % of apprentices securing employment by end of apprenticeship 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

73%

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, 
underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

An employer of choice: advance the council’s Investors in People standard through excellent working 
practices and conditions, delivering a high performing, engaged, and celebrated workforce.  

Annual indicator

Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden 

Annual indicator

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator

Annual indicator

#3 PROGRESS

Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, constitutional 
and legislative demands.

Annual indicator

Annual indicator

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

a) Mean

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

-5%

0%

5%

10%

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 3 of 21

P
age 26



P I  45 Total rental income from property investments P I  47 Total amount secured through contractual social value

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

£1,504,720 £10,000 £0 £32,686 £5,500 £12,186 £0

P I  46 Average yield generated by property investment activity

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

6.5%

#3 PROGRESS

O U T T U R N 
Annual indicator Annual indicator

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, 
underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator

Cllr L. Rolles 

Develop an entrepreneurial culture: deliver on commercial opportunities to generate income and provide a social impact.

Commercial Services: 

O U T T U R N 

£0

£15,000

£30,000

£45,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

£0

£500,000

£1,000,000

£1,500,000

Q4
2019 - 20

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 4 of 21

P
age 27



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences P I  13 Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

3,143 3,225 3,211 3,245 2,670 3,056 17 16 28 19 0 13

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

636 774 556 685 1,295 1,098

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.
Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone committing 
environmental crime or damaging the local environment. 

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N 

Community & Leisure:

Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and reduction of 
crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.

O U T T U R N 

0

10

20

30

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 5 of 21

P
age 28



P I  37

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

219,508 207,957 194,043 204,620 N/A 41,278 974 595 1,011 515 353 417

P I  38 Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

7,318

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports programmes to 
tackle local health inequalities.

O U T T U R N 

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living 
services

Community & Leisure: #2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator

Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help support and 
safeguard vulnerable residents. 

P I  40

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N 

Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

Total number of leisure centre attendees

300

600

900

1,200

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q2
2020 - 21

2,500

5,000

7,500

10,000

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 6 of 21

P
age 29



P I  42 Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

36 10,658 12,358 21,127 6,968 0 2,413

P I  43 Average weekly Borough Market footfall

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

6,419 6,801 6,857 7,461 980 6,192

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of engagement initiatives, 
showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in civic life.

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicatorAnnual indicator

Community & Leisure: 

O U T T U R N 

Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the Borough Market as 
community assets.

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in conjunction 
with its partners

Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

P I  41

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

20

40

60

Q4
2019 - 20

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 7 of 21

P
age 30



P I   44 Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

4,936

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and expand the 
visitor economy.

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 
Annual indicator Annual indicator

Community & Leisure:
Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 8 of 21

P
age 31



P I  14 Total number of net additional homes delivered 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

21 24 53 14 45 71

P I  15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

64

#1 PEOPLE 

Annual indicator

Cllr B. Sangha a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high quality market and 
affordable housing.

O U T T U R N

Strategic Environment: 

Annual indicator

0

30

60

90

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

50

100

150

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 9 of 21

P
age 32



P I  28 % rate of vacant town centre retail properties P I  30 Total rateable value of all commercial properties  

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

8.9% 8.7% 8.7% 9.0% 11.2% 11.1% £64,341,435 £64,368,585 £64,420,185 £64,751,422 £64,801,072 £64,759,342

P I  29 Average weekly Town Centre footfall P I  31 Total number of vacant commercial properties 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

117,111 115,228 106,208 94,276 40,386 91,077 N/A 247 240 237 217 207
O U T T U R N 

Strategic Environment:
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N 

#2 PLACE 

Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy: deliver a programme of strategic regeneration 
schemes, supported by an effective Town Centre team. 

Cllr B. Sangha

Raise Gravesham’s economic profile: develop business and transport infrastructure and improve local 
land usage through a diversified commercial premises portfolio.

£64,250,000

£64,500,000

£64,750,000

£65,000,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

100

200

300

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 10 of 21

P
age 33



P I  32 % net gain in new businesses  P I  33 % rate of resident unemployment 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

2.4% 3.1% 3.3% 3.4% 3.5% 7.4% 7.6%

P I  34 % rate of youth unemployment

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5.2% 5.5% 5.6% 5.8% 11.9% 13.0%

O U T T U R N 
Annual indicator Annual indicator

Cllr B. Sangha

Promote a borough ‘open for business’: with a focus on retaining existing businesses and encouraging 
new start-ups, increase the level and range of business investment to drive economic growth. 

Improve economic conditions: alongside key partner agencies, develop a package of measures that 
support local enterprises and deliver a workforce with the skills needed by modern business.

O U T T U R N 

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking advantage of growth in 
the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Strategic Environment: 

0%

3%

6%

9%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 11 of 21

P
age 34



P I  35 % of ‘Major’ planning applications processed on time 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

75% 100% 100% 83% 100% 100%

P I   36 % of ‘Non-Major’ planning applications processed on time

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

61% 77% 77% 86% 95% 100%

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Strategic Environment: 
Cllr B. Sangha a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Positively promote sustainable development: deliver a pro-active development management service, 
underpinned by a sound Local Plan that protects and enhances our historic natural and built 
environment. 

O U T T U R N 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 12 of 21

P
age 35



P I  3 Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

11 3 4 5 6 6 95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0% 99.8% 99.0%

P I  4 % of broadly compliant food establishments

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8% 89.0% 87.7%

% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five working 
days 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative standards.

#1 PEOPLE Operational Services:

O U T T U R N

P I  5

Cllr L. Croxton 

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 13 of 21

P
age 36



P I  8 % of household waste recycled P I   10 % of household waste sent to landfill

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

44.3% 44.2% 42.6% 42.5% 45.6% 45.1% 1.9%

P I  9 Total volume of residual waste per household (kg)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6 125.1 240.0

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

Cllr L. Croxton 
#1 PEOPLE Operational Services: 

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Annual indicator

Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the borough.

Annual indicator

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q4
2019 - 20

35%

40%

45%

50%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

200

400

600

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 14 of 21

P
age 37



P I  11 Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

2 2 1 1

P I  12 % of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% N/A 4.0%

Operational Services: #1 PEOPLE 

Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a comprehensive 
programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

Cllr L. Croxton 

N/A
O U T T U R N

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

1

2

3

4

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 15 of 21

P
age 38



P I   39 % of council play sites annually inspected

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

100%

Cllr L. Croxton 

Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and promote 
opportunities for active lives.

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N

#2 PLACE Operational Services: 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Annual indicator

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 16 of 21

P
age 39



P I  23 Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days) P I   26 Total number of reported corporate complaints

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

12.6 12.7 12.2 12.8 15.9 13.8 73 82 44 56 41 52

P I  24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5.2 4.9 4.8 4.0 3.6 3.3
O U T T U R N

Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to all. 

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

#1 PEOPLE 
Cllr N. Thandi
Performance & Administration: 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

40

60

80

100

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

5

10

15

20

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

2

4

6

8

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 17 of 21

P
age 40



P I  49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements P I  50 Total number of people signed up to citizens access

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

7% 103 1,519 2,757 4,484 5,453 6,328
O U T T U R N

Annual indicator

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, 
underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N 

Performance & Administration:

Digital innovation: provide the platforms for intelligent customer insight and a quality digital experience, 
and the IT solutions to transform services, delivering a dynamic working environment.

Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme of ‘continuous 
change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, innovative service design.

Cllr N. Thandi
#3 PROGRESS

0

2,500

5,000

7,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 18 of 21

P
age 41



P I  55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented P I  56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

70.6% 75.0% 73.1% 76.2% 62.5% 67.7% 86% 86% 86% 84% 83%

Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, constitutional 
and legislative demands.

O U T T U R N

Performance & Administration: 

O U T T U R N

Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked performance 
management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound internal controls. 

Cllr N. Thandi an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, 
underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

#3 PROGRESS

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Page 19 of 21

P
age 42



P I  16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into occupation P I  18 Average time taken to re-let council housing (days)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

6 1 2 1 6 11 29 23 21 22 53 30

P I  17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5 2 2 12 2 2
O U T T U R N

Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property standards, empty homes 
and homes in multiple occupation.

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 
management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

#1 PEOPLE Housing Services:
Cllr J. Wallace 

0

20

40

60

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

5

10

15

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 20 of 21

P
age 43



P I  19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time P I  21 % of emergency jobs completed on time

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P I   20 Total number of households in temporary accommodation P I   22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

103 80 74 74 96 99 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions that 
support the most vulnerable.

Housing Services:

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the standard and 
efficiency of local housing.

Cllr J. Wallace 

#1 PEOPLE 

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

0

50

100

150

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Page 21 of 21

P
age 44



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 09 November 2020

Reporting officer: Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) and Jan Guyler, Head 
of Legal Shared Service

Subject: Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Cabinet with a copy of the annual review that has been 
conducted in respect of the Legal Shared Service with Medway Council.

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since April 2017, the council has had in place a shared service with Medway 
Council for the delivery of the Legal services function.  This involved the transfer 
of all Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff who were employed within Legal 
Services at GBC to Medway Council. In April 2018, the Information Governance 
team became part of the shared service.

1.2 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 16 April 2019), a formal review of the shared service is to be 
undertaken on an annual basis.

2. Annual Review

2.1 The annual review of the Legal Shared Service arrangement was undertaken in 
September 2020 and reported to the Gravesham Borough Council Management 
Team accordingly.

2.2 A copy of the final review document is attached at appendix two for Member 
perusal.

Page 45 Agenda Item 9



2

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 “Development of a Legal Shared Service” – report to Cabinet – 09 January 
2017

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 46



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard to the following 
legislation:
1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 

place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of 
another local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties, 
and

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authority 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012, 
which enables a local authority to delegate certain functions to another local 
authority.  

Finance and Value 
for Money 

In respect of the 2019-20 financial year, Gravesham’s outturn for the provision of 
Legal Services from Medway was £397,710, which is an increase in the sum paid in 
the first financial year (£359,100 in 2017-18). The increase includes the salary of 
the Senior Information Governance Officer post which was created at the outset of 
the shared IG service to provide additional capacity and GBC’s contribution to 
redundancy and retirement costs incurred as part of the shared service”.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and the annual performance reports has shown that the service 
is meeting and in some cases, exceeding its objectives.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 47

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The delivery of a shared service contributes to Objective 4 - "A sound and self-
sufficient council" through delivery of the following commitment:
- Deliver on opportunities for the sharing and selling of council services

Climate Change There are no specific climate change implications resulting from this report. 

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 48



                    

Review of the Legal Shared Service
(including Information Governance)

(Shared service Commenced: April 2017)

Author(s): Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) and Sarah Parfitt, Director 
(Corporate Services) at Gravesham Borough Council and Perry Holmes, Chief 
Legal Officer at Medway Council

Date: July 2020

Page 49



Review of the Legal Shared Service (including Information Governance)

July 2020

Page 2

In line with all shared service/shared working arrangements, it is necessary to undertake an annual 
review of the arrangement.  The purpose of the review is two-fold; to ensure that the shared service 
is delivering against its agreed objectives and to identify any improvements/changes that need to be 
made to ensure the successful continuation of the arrangement.

The objectives identified for the Legal and Information Governance shared services are as follows:

 Efficiency savings. Realising actual financial savings across the two sites but maintaining delivery 
of the service. 

 Added resilience across the two authorities. There will be a larger pool of officers covering both 
authorities providing additional resilience to cover sickness absence/vacancies or increased 
workload should this be required 

 Availability of specialist skills across both authorities leading to increased efficiency; potential for 
a reduced requirement for external support from contractors etc. 

 Sharing of best practice in the delivery of services 

 Expansion of knowledge base of individual officers 

Key areas of focus for the 2019-20 financial year were identified as follows:

 Information Governance to provide targeted support to teams to complete the GDPR Project 
Plan.

 Revisit the Management Information Report to enable GBC to measure whether they are getting 
value for money for their financial contribution to the shared service.

Page 50



Review of the Legal Shared Service (including Information Governance)

July 2020

Page 3

Review Findings

How is the shared service operating?
1. Has the shared service delivered on the objectives that are set out on page two of the review 

document?

Yes No In part X

Please provide details of how the objectives have been met.  If they haven’t been met or have 
been met in part, please provide the reasons for this and any action identified to rectify this.

The Legal and financial aspect of the Shared Service has delivered on the objectives in full. 

Savings were realised at the outset of the Shared service and as follows:

Initial savings for Gravesham were made at the outset, with a financial benefit of around £77k 
being delivered upon the inception of the shared service.

2017-18 Gravesham’s outturn for 2017/18 featured an overall underspend of £120k. In 
addition to the initial savings of £77k realised, there were further in-year underspends of 
£43k, largely arising from staffing vacancies within the service.

2018-19 In respect of the 2018-19 financial year, Gravesham’s payment to Medway Council 
for the provision of Legal Services was £468k, which was an increase in the sum paid in the 
previous financial year (£359k in 2017-18). This was due to an agreed arrangement that, 
following new GDPR requirements, GBC would contribute for a new Senior Information 
Governance Officer post in full, on the understanding the whole GDPR team were made 
available to GBC. The other factor in the increase between years, was the inclusion of a 
provision for one-off redundancy/retirement costs.

2019-20 In this year, the outturn for Gravesham’s contribution to the shared service was 
£398k which represented an underspend against the original budget of £50k. This arose 
largely due to staff turnover and vacancies within the overall shared service.

Added resilience across both authorities has been reinforced following a restructure in Legal 
Services in May 2019 which created 2 additional solicitor posts to ensure we had the 
appropriately qualified staff to deal with the work streams coming through. 

The legal team have continued to keep the majority of matters in house save for the complex 
regeneration projects. Where those projects have been passed to external advisors the legal 
team have continued to provide support in discrete areas where it is appropriate to do so. 
One of the key projects this year was advising GBC on the governance structure of the LATCo 
– Rosherville Ltd. The number of cases has reduced due to the Covid-19 pandemic but it is 
anticipated that this will increase again. Support has continued to be provided at council 
meetings and advising on the decision-making powers and legal aspects of reports ahead of 
such meetings. 

Page 51



Review of the Legal Shared Service (including Information Governance)

July 2020

Page 4

A suite of KPI’s was agreed with GBC Directors following an audit in July 2018, which scored 
the service as strong. The KPI’s are provided in a monthly Management Information report 
along with the numbers and types of  cases being referred to the shared service and a 
summary of significant cases that have been handled by the team and their outcomes. The MI 
report evidences the continued strong performance of the service with all targets met or 
exceeded. The KPI’s have been reviewed and the current KPI’s provide the best measurement 
of progress. 

The IG aspect of the Shared Service has met it’s objectives in part having made good progress 
in supporting both councils becoming GDPR compliant, improving response times to 
FOIs/SARS and introducing a suite of policies. The team experienced a period of being short 
staffed during financial year 2018-19 which has impacted on the team’s ability to complete 
the objectives in full, particularly in relation to ensuring GDPR compliance, which was 
highlighted in an audit report. This was further impacted upon by the Local Authority’s 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic in the last few months of 2019-2020. The IG team will 
provide targeted supported to teams to enable GBC teams to complete the GDPR project 
plan. While the IG team can advise and support teams across the two authorities the majority 
of the work to be GDPR compliant needs to be undertaken by the individual teams 
themselves as it is their data. The IGG group will monitor progress across the local authority.  
There has been a reduction in the number of FOIs received and the council’s response times 
to FOIs during the Covid-19 pandemic but the response times are improving again.   

2. Have there been any other, unforeseen benefits, as a result of the shared service? 

Yes No X

Please provide details of any other benefits, which were not anticipated at the start, which 
have come about as a result of the shared service.

The Shared Service has enabled the lawyers to gain further knowledge and expertise on some 
complex property matters which could further reduce the need to outsource work. 

Similarly the IG team have been able to gain further knowledge and expertise relating to ICO 
queries and GDPR. 

3. Have there been any unforeseen issues or problems resulting from the shared service?

Yes No X

Please provide details of any other issues of problems that have arisen which were not 
previously identified and how these have been managed/rectified.

The Head of Legal attends GBC’s Management Team meetings on a weekly basis at which any 
issues arising have been raised and quickly resolved. 

Page 52



Review of the Legal Shared Service (including Information Governance)

July 2020

Page 5

4. What has been the financial impact of the shared service on both authorities? 

Please provide details of the financial impact of the shared service i.e. confirmation of any 
savings achieved, if these are above/below anticipated levels, any costs that were not 
previously considered or have arisen etc.

See Q1 above. 

5. Feedback from officers involved in the shared service:

Please provide details of feedback that you have received from officers involved in the shared 
service.  This section could be completed via a short team meeting for example, whereby 
officers views are sought.

The shared service has now been in place for a little over three years, whilst largely a positive 
experience there is a level of frustration for the lawyers at the very limited progress we have 
been able to make in aligning standard documents and processes due to the different back 
office systems. Efforts on this front are on-going. 

In general the IG Team view working with GBC officers as a positive relationship, however, it 
appears that the main frustrations are the technical barriers and managing the demanding 
workload within a small team when trying to support both councils. Below are a few 
comments received:

 The shared service is most of the time working great. The main difficulty is to fairly split 
the time spent on cases. We always want to try and be 50/50, but it is not always 
possible. The main frustration can sometimes be that the two councils use very different 
systems (some which we cannot get on, without a work laptop) which create difficulties.  

 In essence it’s good but it is a juggle to support two Councils with such a small team.

 Whilst we are quite well known in Medway we are not that well known in Gravesham, the 
biggest hurdle I have is trying to get hold of people. We do not have any access to their 
systems and in some cases reliant on Rosemary on giving us contact numbers etc. We 
literally only have the FOI contact sheet to use.

Page 53



Review of the Legal Shared Service (including Information Governance)

July 2020

Page 6

Moving forward with the shared service
6. Based on the review that has been undertaken will the shared service continue to operate?

Yes X No

If ‘No’ please provide details of why it is felt that the shared service should not continue and 
any exit plans that have been discussed/agreed.

If the answer is ‘Yes’ but there are changes that need to be made to ensure  the shared service 
is effective, please provide details of the changes that are required and how they will be 
addressed.

Both shared services have brought savings and resilience for both authorities, for example the 
councils share a Data Protection Officer, a statutory role, which has enabled the DPO to 
develop their expertise in this area and share experiences from both authorities.

The Head of the Shared Service will review with GBC colleagues how the IG team can get 
further access to contacts and will keep workloads under review. The team were short staffed 
previously which did cause a backlog of work however, the team has been fully staffed now 
for a year and the backlog addressed so it is anticipated that going forward and with 
increased training there will not be a repeat and there will be sufficient capacity.   

7. If the shared service is to continue to operate, what are the key areas of focus for the coming 
year for both authorities?

If answered ‘Yes’ to question 5, please provide details of the key aspects of work that 
are going to be undertaken in the year in order to ensure the shared service continues 
and is further strengthened.

Legal Shared Service – continue to allow members of the team to expand their 
knowledge and experience to further increase resilience and take on more of the 
complex regeneration work,  further reducing the need for external instructions. 
Additionally to provide support to the Council’s LATCOs under new Service Level 
Agreements 

Info Governance – to provide further support to GBC and Medway Teams Directorate 
by Directorate to complete the GDPR project plan. 

Page 54



Review of the Legal Shared Service (including Information Governance)

July 2020

Page 7

Summary of recommendations
Please list any recommendations that you feel need to be reviewed by the relevant Directors at both 
authorities.  This may include changes to processes or potential supplement increases (if applicable) 
if it is felt that partnership is working well.

1. IG to provide targeted support to teams to enable them to complete the GDPR 
Project Plan. 

2. IG to provide further support to teams to further improve response times to 
FOIs.

3. Legal to expand provision to encompass advice to LATCOs 

4. Legal to continue to support the introduction of new contract procedure rules 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 09 November 2020

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Assistant Director (Housing)
Nicole Arthur, Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs)

Subject: Additional Resources - Phase 2 of the expansion of the 
workforce within DSO Building Management. 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Cabinet on Phase 1 of the expansion of the operational workforce within DSO 
Building Management and to seek agreement to commence a revised Phase 2 recruitment 
plan through a Cabinet recommendation to Full Council. 

To inform Cabinet of further opportunities to reduce the reliance on term contractors within 
the DSO Building Management Team by expanding the in-house workforce at a more 
competitive rate than current contractors to further assist with efficiency savings, improving 
the quality of work and timescales in which it is completed. 

In addition to this, the proposals outlined within this report would also enable a more 
commercial approach to be adopted within the repairs teams to ensure the service is in the 
best possible position for trading to the public through Rosherville Limited. 

Recommendations:
1. Cabinet recognises that an in-house workforce is more competitive than using 

contractors to carry out certain elements of work and recommends to Full Council the 
proposals to expand the in-house workforce further as set out in Section 4 and 
Appendix 3 of this report and to make the necessary ammendments to the relevant 
Capital and Revenue Budgets.

1. Overview

1.1 As a landlord, Gravesham Borough Council has a statutory duty to ensure its 
housing stock is properly maintained, that equipment is serviced and that any 
responsive repairs are completed in a timely manner.

1.2 Gravesham Borough Council is the only Council within Kent that has a Direct 
Services Organisation (DSO) which directly employs a number of craft workers to 
carry out responsive repairs on council-owned housing, both tenanted and non-
tenanted (void) ensuring compliance with the council’s landlord obligations. 

Page 57 Agenda Item 10



2

Through Phase 1 recruitment we also took responsibility for the Kitchen and 
Bathroom programme back in-house.

1.3 The craft workers employed to work on properties are split into three separate 
teams, Responsive Repairs, Voids and Kitchen & Bathroom but they do also work 
across all sections when required to meet the needs of the service. This proved 
vital during Covid-19, and due to successful outputs despite the difficult operating 
environment, really confirmed the decision to increase the front line workforce as 
being the best way forward for our tenants and the authority. 

2. Background

2.1 The Overview Scrutiny Committee Topic Review in June 2016 made a 
recommendation to increase the current establishment in order to keep more work 
in-house and reduce the reliance on a contractor.  

2.2 A number of significant changes have been made to the service over the last four 
years including changing the pay arrangements for the craft workers, 
implementing a job scheduling system coupled with handheld technology and 
introducing more robust policies and procedures for both staff and tenants.

2.3 In October 2018 Cabinet agreed to the recruitment of 25 additional craft workers 
to be appointed over two phases, Phase 1 was to recruit 14 new members of staff 
with an additional 11 to be recruited in Phase 2.  

2.4 Cabinet gave delegated authority to the Director to recruit the additional craft 
works detailed in Phase 2 of the proposal in consultation with the Lead Member 
and the Section 151 Officer following the review of Phase 1 after six months of 
being fully operational.  However having reviewed the current workload and 
organisation of the teams for Phase 2, it is now 23 craft workers that are needed 
(12 more than originally agreed) to ensure that as much work as possible is kept 
in-house whilst also  providing the opportunity to bring the electrical upgrade 
programme in-house.

3. Current situation

3.1 Phase 1 of the expansion began in November 2018 and saw a well-publicised 
recruitment campaign.  There was a really good response with over 200 people 
applying for the vacant positions. However whilst a high calibre of applicants was 
received it was essential that people were recruited with the exact skill set that we 
needed to generate the savings and efficiencies that had been identified. The very 
specific requirements meant that recruitment took longer than first anticipated, and 
the newly-created roles in Phase 1 were not fully occupied until September 2019. 

3.2 Whilst it took much longer to recruit than originally anticipated, ultimately, it has 
been a benefit to the service and our tenants as the new recruits not only have the 
skill sets that were required but also more skills than had been anticipated which 
has given us the ability to undertake a wider range of work such as specialist 
flooring, qualified locksmith work and disabled shower cubicle work which would 
have previously been given to a contractor.

3.3 The expansion of the workforce also allowed the service to take the monthly 
testing of emergency lighting back in-house, which was not originally planned for 
when setting out Phases1 & 2.  Whilst the testing of the lighting undertaken by the 
contractor wasn’t expensive at £5.60 per check the remedial works generated 
from this was.  

Page 58



3

3.4 This emergency light testing work was carried out by our in-house team from July 
2019 and it generated a saving of £28,503 in 2019/2020.  It has also allowed the 
service to rationalise fixtures and fittings which long-term will generate further 
efficiency savings.  

3.5 Compliance rates for the‘flick’ testing of our emergency lighting have also 
increased and are now at 100%, whereas when this work was carried out by a 
contractor, compliancy averaged at around 60%.  Once the lighting has been fully 
rationalised and a barcoding system introduced via Oneserve the responsibility for 
the testing of lighting will transfer to the Caretakers as part of their routine checks 
without the need to increase the workforce.

3.6 In the report presented to Cabinet on 8 October 2018 it was confirmed that in 
addition to the financial benefits the service would realise in increasing the 
workforce, there would also be a number of non-financial benefits, a summary of 
which can be found below along with an update on how this was achieved:

3.6.1 Increased quality of work - whilst there was evidence that the in-house 
workforce delivered a higher standard of work due to the lower levels of 
failed post inspections, snags and complaints compared to the contractor, 
the majority of the new recruits were previously self-employed so had a 
clear understanding of what a ‘customer’ expects in terms of the work 
quality and level of customer service. 

3.6.2 Better value for money - In 2019/2020 the budget for repairs and 
maintenance was set at £4,270,530 and the outturn was £4,076,972, 
delivering a saving of £193,558 on the 2019/20 budget. This saving was 
achieved in addition to the ongoing budget reductions within DSO Building 
Management over recent years.  To put this into context, historically and 
up to 2015/2016, prior to any changes being made to the service the 
budget for repairs and maintenance was set at £5,000,000, with an 
average overspend per year of nearly £500,000. The budget for 2020/21 
was set at £3,992,000 and based on current predictions, a year-end saving 
of approximately £70,000 is likely to be achieved assuming there are no 
adverse incidents creating a spike in demand. 

3.6.3 Increase flexibility and resilience – the impact of Covid-19 has really 
demonstrated the benefits of having an in-house workforce.  The service 
was able to still provide a good level of service and return to normal 
service levels quickly and effectively.  We were one of the few social 
housing providers in Kent to continue to operate a repairs and 
maintenance (including voids) service over the last six months.

3.6.4 A greater focus on prevention - since the increase to the establishment 
the majority of work that is pre-inspected is carried out by the tradesman 
who will be undertaking the work.  This allows them to decide on the best 
long-term solution and materials for the repair but also allows them to book 
the appointment on site with the tenant whilst confirming what work will be 
carried out.

3.6.5 Improved customer satisfaction - customer satisfaction with repairs was 
98% in 2019/20 compared to 96.93% in 2018/19. Whilst there is limited 
historical data on previous years, BMG were commissioned in 2016 to 
undertake a telephone survey to establish customer satisfaction across the 
key service areas.  The report confirmed that 75% of tenants were 
satisfied with how the Council dealt with repairs and maintenance.

Page 59



4

3.7 Performance levels have also improved and can be found below:

2018/2019 2019/2020

Number of emergency 
repairs completed within 
target

99.92% 100%

Number of non-
emergency repairs 
completed within target

90.78% 91.31%

Customer satisfaction 96.93% 98%

Average days to 
complete a repair

12 8

Average cost per repair £110.36 £106.71

Average spend on 
repairs per property

£534 £495.37

Number of completed 
jobs by DSO

14,120 19,892

Percentage of repair 
work kept in house 

74% 84%

3.8 The service was also shortlisted as a finalist in the category of Maintenance Team 
of the Year in the national Housing Heroes Awards in July 2019.  Our submission 
outlined our journey and achievements and it was a proud moment for all of the 
workforce to be recognised and shortlisted. 

3.9 Covid-19 has delayed this proposal being progressed and Cabinet permission 
being sought earlier, however it is important that that permission is sought before 
the end of the calendar year to ensure that the 2021/2022 budgets can be aligned 
to reflect the proposal.  It should be noted that the current electrical contract would 
need to be extended for a further year if agreement to expand could not be sought 
within the same timescale.

3.10 Appendix 2 outlines what was presented to Cabinet in October 2018 in terms of 
Phase 1 and the potential benefits along with the update for each of the trades 
recruited.

4. Proposal

4.1 The 2018 report identified the roles which were needed at that moment in time for 
Phase 2. However, in undertaking further analysis as to what type of work is being 
given out to our contractor and the skills currently held in-house, it has been 
established there are four areas to focus on which are summarised below.  

4.1.1 Expanding current skill sets – expand the workforce in the areas where 
we already have the skillset to bring those trades in their entirety back in 
house, such as fencing and wet trades.  Previously it was felt that there 

Page 60



5

would always be a need for a contractor to provide these type of services.  
However over the last three years, our existing contractor has been unable 
to provide extra labour on request, particularly at short notice.  With this 
and the efficient scheduling of appointments some trades are now 
completed using only our in-house workforce such as double glazing, 
electrical repairs and plumbing and now other trades have been identified 
where this could happen.

4.1.2 Increasing in-house skillsets - recruiting to the trades that we do not 
currently have such as roofing and drainage as outlined in Appendix 3.

4.1.3 Creating less skilled roles to support trades – historically DSO Building 
Management has always kept the smaller jobs in-house giving the bigger 
work to a contractor.  However, a refocus over the last 18 months has 
resulted in us keeping the bigger and more expensive jobs in-house.  This 
can mean that if it is a two-man job, we may lose two skilled craft workers 
on one job for a week.  In exploring the industry it has been identified that 
we need labourer roles which will help to support the current operation and 
the new trades being brought back in-house, somebody to foot a ladder for 
a roofer is a good example.  There will also be opportunities to develop 
such labourers with specific trade courses which will benefit both them and 
the service.

4.1.4 Planned Works - the electrical testing and upgrade programme is a 
planned programme that has historically been completed by a contractor.   
The current contractor’s contract for the Electrical Testing and Upgrade 
programme expires in March 2021 and it is seen as an opportunity to bring 
this work back in-house.  The Code of Practice for Electrotechnical Care in 
Social Housing confirms that social housing landlords should be 
undertaking an inspection of the electrics in a property every five years. 
Whilst the cost of the test undertaken by the current contractor is not 
expensive, any remedial work following the test is.  

4.1.5 A comparison between the contractor’s schedule of rates and the costs to 
the DSO Building Management can be found below:

Work to be carried out Cost of Contractor 
to complete work

Cost of DSO to 
complete work

Renew 20A DP Ceiling 
Switch 

£24.78 £11.52

Install and size RCD £76.91 £23.03
Fan renew variable 
speed timer

£154.57 £23.03

Install new kitchen ring £451.39 £170.42

4.2 Using the detailed information on Oneserve from 2017 we have forecast that we 
will need to grow the establishment in line with the new craft worker posts detailed 
in Appendix 3 and seek Cabinet agreement in principle with a recommendation to 
Full Council to amend the establishment accordingly and start the recruitment 
process for these posts.

4.3 If approval is given and due to the current climate with Covid-19, the recruitment 
campaign will be focused on the fact the no staff have been furloughed and our 
expansion will be a good news story when there are so many companies having 
to make their staff redundant.

Page 61



6

4.4 The current contractors for responsive repairs and the electrical upgrade 
programme are not local contractors and neither is their workforce, therefore 
expanding the workforce will bring employment in to the Borough at a time when it 
is needed most.

4.5 In addition to all the benefits an in-house workforce can deliver now, expanding 
the team and taking greater control of how we deliver our service more efficiently 
enables a more commercial approach to be taken which aligns with the corporate 
ambition of privately trading and selling our services to generate much-needed 
income.  

4.6 In preparation for private trading, it is important to succession plan and increase 
the number of trade apprentices employed within DSO Building Management in 
order to grow and shape the future workforce.  Work is on-going to review what is 
required and will be taken forward in Spring 2021 to fit in with the summer in-take 
of the local colleges.

5. Budget

5.1 A summary of the financial implications supplied by the Finance team can be 
found in Appendix 4.  

5.2 In addition to the costs that have been identified in Appendix 5, there will also 
need to be a Capital spend for the purchasing of additional vans.  There is already 
£120,000 in budget line C212/C001 and C212/C0048 set aside for the purchase 
of new vans in Phase 2. 

5.3 However, due to the proposals to increase the workforce above what was initially 
planned for Phase 2, an additional 16 vans are required totalling £184,000. 
Working with colleagues in Finance, the additional amount required can be funded 
from an underspend within the current financial year (budget H882/5113). 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 62



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal As a Landlord, the Council has a legal duty to respond to repair requests within set 
timescales to ensure compliance with legislation and therefore needs appropriate 
resources in place to comply with this requirement

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The total financial commitment of recruiting the additional craft workers would be 
£590,990 at top of grade, inclusive of on-costs and overheads which can be 
contained within existing budgets. 
The recruitment of additional craft workers can be accommodated within exisitng 
budgets, and will allow the service to continue to drive through efficiencies and 
savings by bringing more work back in-house.
The changes as proposed within this report are likely to generate an overall saving 
of £672,500 within Capital HRA budgets and £256,480 within HRA Revenue 
budgets whilst also increasing the quality of work and capacity to deliver more for 
our tenants.
There is also a risk that we may over resource however due to the data held in 
regards to levels of work and what is required this in unlikely.   

Risk Assessment Under Phase 1 to mitigate the risk of over resourcing the service, a two phase 
approach to recruitment took place and over the last 18 months we have been able 
to monitor the service and it has given extra time to determine what is needed.
There is a risk that we take on people without the extact skill set we are looking for 
however we are confident that our success in recruiting in Phase 1 will continue.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 63

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


8

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People
Provide A Proactive, Supportive & Financially Efficient Housing Service: high 
quality tenant management experienced through a service making full use of its 
assets. 
Deliver a skilled in-house building management team
#2 Place 
Increased local opportunities for residents will also have reduced the need to travel 
outside the Borough for employment.
#3 Progress
Develop an entrepreneurial culture.
Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council.
 

Climate Change
Having control over the appointments for DSO Building Management ensures that 
work is programmed in the most efficient way reducing fuel usage across the 
Borough.

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 64



Appendix 2–Phase 1 recruitment update

TRADE QUANTITY FUNDING JUSTIFICATION OUTCOMES

Kitchen & 
Bathroom 
Team. One 
team will 
consist of :

3 x Multi 
Trade

0.66 x 
Electrician

3 x teams of 3 
multi-trades 

and 

2 electricians to 
work across the 
three teams.

The total salary costs, at top of 
scale for these additional posts 
equates to £462,727. This will be 
funded from the Capital Budget 
(C406 & C409) that is currently 
managed by Asset Management 
Team and we will work with the 
Finance Team to decide the most 
appropriate and easiest way of 
altering existing budgets and 
creating new budget lines to 
reflect the new ways of working.

Over the next 30 years, it is estimated that the Asset Management Team is likely to spend in the region of 
£54.5m on installing new kitchens and bathrooms as confirmed within the recent stock condition survey. 
This equates to £1.8m per year in total with 1.3m allocated to kitchens and to bathrooms and £1.3m to 
kitchens. However, this figure is calculated using basket rates currently used by a contractor who undertake 
100% of this work on behalf of the council. 

On a rolling programme, and to ensure that we invest consistently and in line with our policies, on an 
annual basis an average of 189 kitchens and 283 bathrooms will be replaced on a capital programme of 
works.        

The current contractor’s basket rate is £5,500 per kitchen and £3,355 per bathroom. 

Using the calculations and comparisons with what it costs in a void property, it is estimated the in-house 
team would complete a kitchen for an average of £3,500 per kitchen and £2,000 per bathroom. This is an 
estimated saving of 36% on kitchens and 40% on bathrooms. Using these estimated figures, it is likely that 
we could reduce the capital commitment within the 30 year business plan by approximately £23m, or 
£760,000 per year. 

The capital budget for the kitchen and bathroom programme will be adjusted to allow for the recruitment of 
the teams and as this work progresses, we will work with the finance team to update the 30 year business 
plan to reflect the savings achieved. 

Phase 1 recruitment : 6 multi trade and 1 electrician

The in-house programme has proved popular with tenants with 
customer satisfaction being at 99%.  Across the Capital programme in 
2019/2020 210 kitchens and 127 bathrooms were installed.   

The 2019/2020 Kitchen Programme was brought back in-house as 
part of the Phase 1 recruitment process. It was anticipated that it 
would cost an average of £3,500 per kitchen install compared to 
£5,500 basket price with the contractor.  The end of year average 
figure was £3,134 per kitchen so slightly less than anticipated.  

It is important to note that the average price of £3,134 achieved in the 
last financial year also includes upgrading of pipework, flooring repairs 
where needed, upgrading of light fittings and sockets none of which 
would have been completed if the work had been given to a contactor.

Fewer tenants than anticipated took up the offer of a bathroom 
replacement which meant we did focus some of the resource to 
undertake some larger scale plumbing jobs and managed to keep 
92% in-house, up 12% on the previous year.

Multi Trade 
Carpenter 

2 The total salary costs, at top of 
scale for both posts is £64,686. 

This will be funded from the 
contractor budget within D101 
(Carpentry & UPVC) and the on-
going salary savings following the 
craft workers review. 

Carpenters carry out all carpentry and UPVC work on our properties and communal areas and this is 
probably the service which has the greatest demand put on them due to the nature of the work which is 
often related to security or fire safety.  We carry out 80 % of the workload with the other 20% undertaken by 
the contractor.  It is also one area with the highest turnaround time which averages 54 days for a non-
emergency from the call coming in to completion which is outside of the 28 day target. Whilst one carpenter 
would be sufficient to accommodate current workloads, it wouldn’t improve the current end to end times that 
remain outside of the target of 28 days. Therefore to ensure the targets are met, and to carry out the work 
at a more competitive rate two multi trade carpenters are required.

Phase 1 recruitment: 1 carpenter

The recruitment of a carpenter meant that we kept 91% of carpentry 
work in-house in 2019/2020 and reduced the average completion per 
job from 54 days to 9 days.

The decision has been taken to not recruit to the extra carpenter 
position as part of Phase 2 but to keep this under review with 
consideration to recruit further down the line with a carpenter who is 
competent to repair and fit fire doors, which is considered to be 
specialist work and therefore waiting for further government guidance.

In 2018/2019 the contractor spend for carpentry was £166,591 which 
reduced to £65,554 in 2019/2020.

Multi Trade 5 The total salary costs, at top of 
scale for all five posts is £161,715. 

The funding for these five posts 
will be taken from various budgets 
used for the elements of work they 
will be carrying out, and will 
include using the contractor 
budgets from D100 (Brickwork), 
D102 (Decorators), D109 
(Fencing), D114 (Damp & Mould) 
and D115 (Aids & Adaptations) 
and the on-going salary savings 
following the review. 

Since April 2017, 4,303 multi trade jobs have been completed with the DSO completing 37% of these in-
house. The other 63% have been completed by a contractor with an average end to end time of 32 days, 
which is just over the 28 day target. The length of time to complete these jobs such as fencing, aids and 
adaptations, decorating and bricklaying also generates a number of issues for Housing Management 
especially when the work relates to boundary and garden walls. The recruitment of the extra posts will also 
allow us to undertake some smaller scale garage repairs which are currently allocated to a contractor and 
also keep the majority of fencing work in-house.  There has been 727 fencing jobs undertaken with an end 
to end time of 44.8 days. Brickwork has proved to be more costly with the new term contractor as it is not 
always possible to use the schedule of rates and therefore ‘quoted’ work is used which can be expensive. 
Carrying out this work by an in-house team will generate further savings. 

Phase 1 recruitment: 2 Multi-trade

68% of multi trade work was kept in-house in 2019/2020, a significant 
increase on what had happened in previous years and generated a 
saving of £67,000.

In 2019/2020, 50% of fencing work was completed in-house at a cost 
of £25,249 by our multi trades in between other work. In 2018/19, 
£125,562 was paid to a contractor to deliver the other 50%, the type 
of work was also comparable.  The end to end time of fencing repairs 
undertaken by our contractor is 62 days compared to 19 for the in-
house team.  

Electrician 1 The total salary cost, at top of 
scale for this one post is £41,545.

 This will be funded from the 
contractor budget within D104 
(Electricians) and the on-going 
salary savings following the 
review.

Since April 2017, 5,478 electrical jobs have been completed in our occupied properties and communal 
areas.  84 % have been completed by DSO and 16% by the contractor.  The majority of the work which has 
been passed to the contractor relates to communal lighting repairs.  The end to end time for the work given 
to a contractor averages 75 days. This work can be carried out more economically in-house, along with 
improving the end to end times and customer satisfaction. 

Phase 1 recruitment: 1 electrician

In 2019/2020 100% of day to day responsive repair work was 
completed by the DSO with an average turnaround time of 3 days.  

A small amount of specialist work was given to a contractor such as 
street column repairs on the estates which generated a spend of 
£21,025 which was £57,000 down on the previous financial year. 

We also bought back in-house emergency light testing and repairs 
from July 2019 which generated a saving of £28,503 on the servicing 
budget.

Electrician 2 The total salary costs, at top of 
scale, for these two posts is 
£83,090. This will be funded from 

All empty properties must have an electrical check before the property can be re-let.  There are no directly 
employed electricians within the void team and all work has been sourced via a contractor over the last 2 
years. Since October 2017 our contractor has supplied us with 2 electricians who solely work on our empty 

Phase 1 recruitment: 1 electrician (not yet recruited to)

Unfortunately whilst a high number of suitable applicants had applied 
for this position we have experienced a number of issues during the 

P
age 65



Appendix 2–Phase 1 recruitment update

the contractor budget within D110 
(Voids) and the on-going salary 
savings following the review.

properties and have completed 214 checks and or/rewires. A check takes both electricians half a day, a 
kitchen upgrade a whole day and a rewire of a property between 3-5 days. Based on the costs of us 
bringing the work in-house, it is estimated that it is between 25% -35% cheaper than using our current 
contractor.

recruitment process with clearance of the applicants which had meant 
we were unable to start anybody and generate a saving.  

However during this time processes in terms of the electrical work on 
a void and how it is carried out has improved meaning we will only 
need 1 void electrician rather than recruit a further one in Phase 2.  

Multi Trade 4 The total salary costs, at top of 
scale, for these four posts is 
£129,372. This will be funded from 
the contractor budget within D110 
(Voids) and the on-going salary 
savings following the review.

Since January 2018 we have completed 176 voids, 64% by our in-house team and 36% by our contractors. 
Recruitment of the extra void teams will allow us to take on 96% of the work and use our contractor for 
some of the bigger refurbishment projects.

Phase 1 recruitment: 2 multi trade

In 2019/2020 the percentage of voids kept in –house increased from 
64% to 86%. 

Keeping more of the void work in-house did not adversely impact the 
turn- around times with minor voids remaining at 8 days and major 
increasing by one day to 24 days turn around time.

Whilst we had identified that recruiting a further two multi traders as 
part of Phase 2 would move us towards 96% being kept in-house, 
further analysis has been undertaken with the decision to recruit less 
skilled staff to free up the multi skilled workforce which will help with 
both turnaround time and keeping more work in-house.

P
age 66



Appendix 3– Proposed Additional Resources for Responsive Repairs

TRADE QUANTITY TEAM FUNDING JUSTIFICATION BENEFITS

Electrical 
(upgrade 
programme)

6 electricians and 2 
apprentices

Planned Work 
Surveyor will 
manage the 
Electrical Upgrade 
Team

Salary Costs- £284,120

Material costs- £236,000

Van overheads- £30,000

Third Party Auditor- £20,000

Total cost of the programme is 
£570,120

This will be funded from the 
Capital Budget (C851/C0031) that 
is currently managed by Asset 
Management

On a rolling programme, and to ensure that we invest consistently and in line with our policies, on an 
annual basis an average of 1,138 properties and 50 blocks are on the capital programme of works for 
electrical testing and upgrades which equates to £831,600 per annum, based on £700 on average per 
property.

Using the calculations and comparisons with what it costs us to undertake the work in occupied and void 
properties, it is estimated the in house team could complete the programme with an average price per 
property for £480 a saving of 31%.

Using these estimated figures, it is likely that we could reduce the capital commitment within the 30 year 
business plan by approximately £260,000 per year,

The capital budget for the electrical programme will be adjusted to allow for the recruitment of the teams 
and as this work progresses, we will work with the finance team to update the 30 year business plan to 
reflect the savings achieved and where the savings could be spent across the stock on any improvement/ 
compliancy work needed.

The in house craft workers already complete electrical testing and 
upgrades in both occupied and empty (void) properties which has 
allowed us to get a good understanding of the amount of resource 
required, time needed to be allocated and the costs involved and 
therefore we will be able to complete more properties than what is on 
the original programme.  This in turn should have a positive impact 
on the repairs budget as we will proactive rather than by finding 
faults at an earlier stage when it is easier to deal with and we have 
resource already on –site.  

Kitchen Team 3 Multi Traders Planned Work 
Surveyor will 
manage the Kitchen 
Team

Salary Costs- £104,910

Materials- £45,000

Van overheads- £15,000

Total cost  is £164,910

This will be funded from the 
Capital Budget (C409) that is 
currently managed by Asset 
Management.  

The budget had been increased 
for 20/21 to accommodate the 
Phase 2 recruitment process but 
did not go ahead due to Covid- 19 
and delay in these Capital works 
starting.

The 2019/2020 Kitchen Programme was brought back in house as part of the Phase 1 recruitment 
process. We had anticipated that it would cost an average of £3,500 per kitchen install compared to 
£5,500 basket price with the contractor.  The end of year average figure was £3,134 per kitchen so slightly 
cheaper than anticipated.  It is important to note that the average price of £3,134 achieved in the last 
financial year also includes upgrading of pipework, flooring repairs where needed, upgrading of light 
fittings and sockets none of which would have been completed if the work had been given to a contactor.

Over the next 30 years, it is estimated that the Asset Management Team is likely to spend in the region of 
£29,925,000 on installing new kitchens based on the most recent stock condition survey. This equates to 
an average of £997,500 per year. However, this figure is calculated using the contractor basket rate of 
who previously undertook the work.

On a rolling programme, and to ensure that we invest consistently and in line with our policies, on an 
annual basis an average of 181 kitchens will be replaced on a capital programme of works.        

Using these estimated figures, it is likely that we could reduce the capital commitment within the 30 year 
business plan by £10.9m, or £364,000 per year. 

The capital budget for the kitchen programme will be adjusted to allow for the recruitment of the teams 
and as this work progresses, we will work with the finance team to update the 30 year business plan to 
reflect the savings achieved.

The in house programme has proved popular with tenants with 
customer satisfaction being at 99%.

Having control of the programme has also meant we re-profiled the 
kitchen programme by area and were able to bring some properties 
in the same block which may not have been due to the following year 
or two forward.  This has created efficiencies by having the workforce 
in one area and reducing waste, such as part used bags of plaster or 
tins of paint.  For this 20/21 programme we have managed to 
programme 17 kitchens in one estate which would have been due in 
the next 3 years.  

Multi Trade 7 Multi traders that 
must have the skill 
sets of roofing, wet 
trades (decorating/ 
plastering/artexing), 
drainage, fencing 
and ground work

Responsive Repairs 
and will be 
managed by the 
Team Manager – 
Electrical QS

Salary Costs- £244,970

Material Costs- £54,660

Van overheads- £35,000

Total cost- £334,630

The multi traders will be 
supported by labourers (detail 
below), total salary costs, at the 
top of scale for labourers is 
£126,450

Total cost- £461,080

This is to bring in basic roofing, all 
wet trades, all fencing and ground 
work and all basic drainage in 
house. 

This will be funded from the 
contractor budget where currently 

Roofing: Historically we have always given roofing/ guttering work on our properties and communal areas 
to a contractor.  Analysis has been undertaken looking at the last 3 financial years of roofing and guttering 
repairs to establish what level of basic roofing repairs we could have undertaken if we’d had the right 
resource.  734 basic jobs were given to a contractor in 2017/18, 853 in 2018/19 and 989 basic jobs in 
2019/20

Roofing is currently a repair which isn’t always completed within target, this is due to the our contractor 
subcontracting out the work rather than it being a difficult repair and turn-around time is currently 
averaging 47 days.  It is likely that bringing this work in house will significantly reduce this. £169,115 was 
spent on the 989 jobs in 2019/20.

Drainage: Since April 2017, 2,091 small scale drainage jobs have been completed with the DSO 
completing 25% of these in house at a cost of £19,283. The other 75% have been completed by a 
contractor with an average end to end time of 8 days at a cost of £392,904.  Recruiting directly to these 
posts will be more cost effective. All of this work was directly comparable.

Wet trades: over the last three financial years we have increased the level of wet trade work carried out in 
house.  Prior to 2017 all of this work on the responsive repair side was given to a contractor.  In 2017/18 
we completed 3% of this work, 2018/2019 we completed 37% of the work and 2019/2020 we completed 
70% of this type of work.  To carry out 70% of this work it cost £99,566 and for the contractor to carry out 
30% it cost £163,819.  All of this work was directly comparable.

Fencing: Historically we have always given fencing work directly to our contractor, in 2019/2020 we 
managed to keep 50% of fencing work in house at a cost of £25,249 which was completed by our multi 

There are a number of benefits of keeping this work in house as well 
as it being significantly cheaper 

The multi trade work undertaken by contractors has the highest rate 
of failed post inspections compared to the other services.  Keeping 
the work in house will allow a quicker turnaround time for customers 
but also improved quality.

 This is also an area where we know that tenants have expressed an 
interest in this being a paid service going forward, particularly for 
decorating, minor home improvements etc. 

P
age 67



Appendix 3– Proposed Additional Resources for Responsive Repairs

£717,560 is apportioned to this 
type of work. (H882/51113)

trades in between other work.  We paid the contractor £125,562 last financial year in comparison.  The 
end to end time of fencing repairs undertaken by our contractor is 62 days compared to 19 for the DSO.  It 
is believed that recruiting to these roles we will be able to keep the majority, if not all, of the fencing work 
in house.

Labourers 5 Labourers 
working across 
voids and 
supporting multi 
trades undertaking 
fencing, ground 
work and roofing.

Responsive and 
Voids and will be 
managed by the 
Voids Supervisor/ 
Team Manager – 
Electrical QS

Salary Costs- £126,450

Material Costs- £0

The total cost is £126,450

The garden clearance and cleaning of a void prior to 2018 had been outsourced to a contractor, however 
Breyer group were unable offer this service which meant it was undertaken by the void multi trade 
workforce on top of the void work.  Whilst this has made a saving of £200,000 per year we have 
recognised that it also adds delays on to the void turnaround time and can mean we give voids to a 
contractor as we have got the resource free.  By having dedicated, cheaper resource to do this will free up 
the time of the void multi traders and reducing the work given to the contractor.

Historically the DSO have always kept the smaller jobs in house giving the bigger work to a contractor.  
However we have refocused this over the last 18 months to keep the bigger, more expensive jobs in-
house.  This can mean that if it is a two man job, we may lose two skilled craft workers on one job for a 
week.  We have looked across the industry and have identified that we need labourer roles which will help 
support the current operation and the new trades being brought back in house, somebody to foot a ladder 
for a roofer is a good example.  There will also be opportunities to develop the labourer with specific trade 
courses which will benefit both them and the service.  Freeing up the skilled multi trade on two man jobs 
will mean we will be able to keep more work in house.

Consideration has been given to whether these particular roles should be apprentices and whilst it would 
be a cheaper alternative we do need people to have a certain level of skill and ability plus it is also labour 
intensive to manage apprentices and would have an operational impact if we were to rely on them to 
provide this role.

As advised within the justification there are a number of benefits for 
employing a number of less skilled roles within the team in terms of 
freeing up the skilled workforce time to take on more work in house.  
However whoever is recruited in to these positions will have the 
opportunity to upskill and potentially move on to a trade role in the 
future.

P
age 68



**Current budget and likely saving is based on combining Multi-trade and Labourers

Appendix 4 - Financial Implications

Financial implication for Phase 2 including, salaries, van costs and materials

Phase Two

Team Resource
Current 
budget

Future 
budget

Likely 
saving

Budget line

Electrical Upgrade
6 x Electrician 2 x 
Apprentices £831,600 £570,120 £260,000 C851/C0031

Kitchen & Bathroom 3 x Multi-trade £1,300,000* 887,500 £412,500
C409/ C0031
C425/C0031

Responsive Repairs/ 
Voids 7 x Multi-trade £334,630 H882/51113
Responsive Repairs/ 
Voids 5 x Labourer £717,560** £126,450 £256,480 H882/51113

Total Cost (top of grade, Inc. on-cost & 
overheads and materials) 2,849,160 1,918,700 £928,980

*Budget reflects the Capital Budget figure which was reported at Phase 1 and the full capital kitchen/ bathroom 
programme

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public 
Key Decision:  No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 9 November 2020

Reporting officer: Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)

Subject: De-merger of the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership 

Purpose and summary of the report:
This report is provided to ensure that Cabinet members are fully informed of a proposal put forward by 
Gravesham Borough Council for the de-merger of the joint Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) and which has subsequently been agreed, in pursuance of Gravesham’s wish to 
establish a dedicated District–level CSP.

Recommendations:

Cabinet is asked to:

i) Note the content of the report with particular reference to ;

(a) the steps that have been taken during this process to ensure that there was appropriate 
consultation with all statutory partners on the proposal for a de-merger and their responses;

(b) that an application was submitted to the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 
seeking his formal approval of the de-merger to which a positive response was received;

(c) the delegated decision taken by the Cabinet Lead Member, Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, 
countersigned by the Leader of the Council, for the withdrawal of Gravesham from the joint 
CSP in order that a dedicated District-level Partnership can be established without delay; 

(d) a draft timetable of the key milestones leading to the formal launch of both a new 
Gravesham CSP and a new Community Safety Strategy.

1. Introduction and Rationale

1.1 This report apprises Cabinet of the de-merger of the existing joint CSP that has been initiated 
by Gravesham Borough Council.  Following the introduction of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, 
both Dartford and Gravesham established Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships 
(CDRPs) now known as Community Safety Partnerships, in order to meet their statutory 
obligations.  The separate Partnerships were then merged in December 2006 following a Home 
Office-led review.  The merger of Partnerships, particularly in two-tier Authorities, was seen at 
that time as a positive means of pooling resources and reducing the level of demand made on 
those agencies needing to participate in Partnership meetings.

1.2 During the lifetime of the CSP since the merger, the joint arrangements have generally worked 
well and strong relationships have been formed across the agencies represented.  However, 
many things have changed during the course of the last 14 years that led Gravesham to 

Page 71 Agenda Item 11



2

conclude that now is the right time to re-establish its own separate and independent statutory 
CSP.

1.3 In respect of the Partnership directly, there had been significant changes to its structure and a 
shift from joint cross-Borough sub-groups of the CSP to separate working groups to address a 
variety of very local community safety priorities.  This had resulted in the CSP being the only 
joint meeting that remained. Meetings were rarely able to consider local issues or operational 
activity in real detail, tending primarily to discuss matters only at a very strategic level.  In part, 
this has been a reflection of the different approaches being taken at a local level, the different 
needs of our local communities and the fact that certain community safety issues e.g. dealing 
with Serious Organised Crime, require a very specific focus and agency representatives with 
local, grassroots knowledge.  

1.4 It is also the case that whilst Dartford and Gravesham may share some headline community 
safety objectives, the degree to which we each need to prioritise tackling certain issues differs 
as our experience of them is not the same.  We have a responsibility to ensure that we can, 
through multi-agency working, be as effective as possible in tackling the crime and disorder 
concerns that are most prevalent in our area and most important to our local people.  
Gravesham feels that this is something that will be better achieved through a dedicated CSP 
that will be able to focus specifically on and be proactive in dealing with local matters.

1.5 In the past, there may perhaps have been financial advantages in having a joint Partnership but 
no such advantages exist now.  Each Borough has their own Community Safety Unit (CSU) 
and each Unit receives separate corporate funding through their respective Councils to deliver 
a community safety service.  Each Unit also makes individual applications/bids to the Kent 
Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office on an annual basis to secure funding to deliver core 
activity and each are separately accountable to the PCC for expenditure of any funds allocated.  
Other funding has been successfully sought through bids to Central Government, usually 
through consortium bids on behalf of several different agencies and charities and there is no 
reason why this cannot continue in the future. 

1.6 The rationale for the proposal has been one of wanting to ensure that Gravesham has a strong 
Partnership in place with the ability to concentrate on local residents’ needs and that will enable 
initiatives to meet these as effectively as possible.  The close working relationship that exists 
between the two Borough Councils, particularly between our CSUs is highly valued and 
Gravesham has sought to reassure partners that this will not be undermined by having separate 
Community Safety Partnerships – we will still be working together as we have done between 
CSP meetings.  This proposal has been purely about allowing future Partnership meetings to 
have a direct focus.  Further, having our own CSP will provide our statutory partners with the 
opportunity to discuss those issues that affect their own service areas in much greater detail 
than we have been able to do.  It will hopefully also make participation in the Partnership of 
greater and real value to them.  It is perhaps important to note that all other Districts in Kent 
have their own CSP; Gravesham is simply following the same approach and supporting 
consistency across the county.

2. Practicalities

2.1 In putting forward the proposal, a number of practicalities were considered.  The following 
information was shared with statutory partners as part of the consultation with them and to 
assist them with any discussions that would have been deemed necessary internally within their 
organisations.

2.1.1 Does the joint Partnership provide advantages at an operational level that would be weakened 
if separate CSPs were in place?
No.  Each Borough’s activity at an operational level is almost exclusively directed by each area’s 
CSU and determined by local priorities.  Even where the priorities themselves are the same, 
the responses to address them are identified and delivered separately as the approach taken 

Page 72



3

differs dependent on the location, the physical environment and the population.  Neither of our 
CSUs have any staff with a cross-Borough remit – our Teams operate completely independently 
of each other.

2.1.2 Would having separate CSPs reduce our ability to address cross-border criminality?
No.  Information-sharing agreements are in place with Dartford as they are with all other 
Districts, with Kent County Council and with Medway Council.  Intelligence in respect of cross-
border criminality is routinely shared with other areas and this practice would remain the same.  
In reality, Gravesham experiences a greater degree of cross-border criminality from the 
Medway towns than from Dartford whilst the latter experiences a greater problem with offenders 
from the Bexley area than from Gravesham.  Very positive relationships exist between all CSU 
Managers and there is no reason to believe that the relationship we have with Dartford in 
respect of information-sharing would not continue.

2.1.3 Would having separate CSPs reduce our opportunity to work together or share good practice?
No.  Both CSUs have strong track records of working collaboratively with other Districts and 
non-Local Authority partner agencies.  Gravesham CSU has also been successful in bidding 
for significant sums of external funding to the Home Office and to the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government – none of those opportunities required that applications 
should cover more than one Local Authority area but we have submitted consortium or cross-
Borough bids where this has been advantageous to the application or to the project for which 
the funding is being sought.  Working collaboratively not just with Dartford but also with other 
areas and partner agencies will be key in attracting further external funding in future but our 
working together on bidding for these resources is not dependent on our having a joint CSP.

2.1.4 Would having separate CSPs increase our administrative and performance reporting burden?
Administration of the CSP is currently shared between Gravesham and Dartford’s CSUs.  
Gravesham has a full-time CSU Administrator who will continue to fulfil the administrative 
requirements of a Gravesham CSP.  

In terms of performance reports that are provided quarterly to the CSP, currently the 
responsibility is shared by the CSU Strategic Manager (Gravesham) and the Community Safety 
Manager (DBC).  Gravesham’s CSU Manager will have the responsibility of fulfilling the 
requirement of completing the performance reports for a dedicated Gravesham CSP as 
required (on a quarterly basis or otherwise).  In reality, the task should be much simpler and 
less time consuming as currently each report has to take account of changing patterns of crime 
and ASB across areas and activity being carried out in each Borough - if the report writer is 
only having to consider local performance and activity (with which they will be much more 
familiar and knowledgeable, the time spent on the preparation of these documents will be 
reduced).  

It will also mean that the report can consider local community safety matters and activity in 
greater detail which will raise the level of the debate and our understanding of issues and 
ultimately, enable us to better target our resources and efforts.

2.1.5 How will the completion of the Strategic Assessment (a legal obligation) and the production of 
a Community Safety Strategy/Plan be affected if we were to have separate CSPs?
Gravesham’s view is that the impact would be positive rather than negative.  Under current 
arrangements the two Boroughs take it in turns (alternating year-to-year) to produce the 
Strategic Assessment in the format of one document covering both areas.

The Strategic Assessment process is already time-consuming and quite demanding as it pools 
data and intelligence from all our partner agencies to assess changes in levels of crime and 
ASB as the first steps in determining our local priorities.  Our job is made twice as difficult as 
we have to include and analyse all data/information in respect of Dartford and Gravesham.  
Consequently, the Assessment can become lengthy and lose local focus - which defeats its 
purpose as a key analytical tool.  A totally local product would enable us to spend more time 

Page 73



4

drilling down on the causal factors behind increases in or the prevalence of certain crime types.  
It would also mean that the CSP meeting that considers the findings of the Assessment would 
be able to consider different issues in more depth and be able to better accommodate the 
engagement of different partner agency representatives in that discussion. 

The Community Safety Strategy/Plan – this is currently a joint delivery plan.  In establishing a 
dedicated District-level CSP, Gravesham will then develop a new, locally-focussed Strategy 
and supporting Action Plan.  This will more clearly reflect local priorities and will make reporting 
back on progress in delivering certain initiatives at quarterly CSP meetings more meaningful.  

2.1.6 Would having separate CSPs place a greater burden on statutory partners in terms of attending 
meetings?
Any additional burden would be minimal as the meetings only take place quarterly – and in the 
past the joint CSP had a CSP Support Group as well as the main group and agency 
representatives covering both areas were attending both of those without difficulty.  It also 
should be noted that all other Districts have their own CSPs and partner representatives 
covering more than one area are having to accommodate those; we would not be requesting 
any more support than is routinely provided elsewhere. 

Given the increased use of on-line meetings during Covid-19, it is also possible that quarterly 
meetings would have options to ‘dial-in’ rather than attend in person to lessen the demand on 
time that physical attendance might place on attendees. 

Ultimately, by making the meetings more focussed and relevant to every agency represented 
at the table, the benefits should counter any additional requirement placed on the time of the 
few agency representatives affected by having to attend separate CSP meetings in Dartford 
and Gravesham.  

Both Districts have always had separate Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees despite 
having a joint Partnership, therefore, the establishing of a separate Gravesham CSP will not 
have any impact on partners who regularly attend Scrutiny meetings.

2.1.7 Would having separate CSPs have a negative financial impact?
No.  Each Borough has a separate Community Safety Fund allocation made available through 
the PCC’s Office and this would not change.  Business cases (bids) for how we would like to 
spend this funding are made by our CSUs independently of each other and historically, how 
this funding has been expended has been very different – reflecting our different community 
safety priorities and approaches.  

Having separate CSPs would not prevent us from continuing to agree to jointly fund specific 
initiatives that would benefit both our areas e.g. sharing the cost of delivering training sessions 
for staff and partner agencies.

Externally funded projects developed by Gravesham CSU (via the Home Office or MHCLG and 
for which Gravesham has been the responsible/lead Authority) to deliver initiatives benefitting 
both our areas, have now been completed; we have no other shared financial resources.

2.1.8 Are there joint CSP Sub-Groups/Working Groups that would be affected if there were separate 
CSPs? 
No.  There are no Sub-Groups of the CSP that cover both our areas (there were in the past but 
as local priorities have changed some groups have been wound down and new groups have 
been established but these operate at District level very successfully) e.g. Serious Organised 
Crime Groups, Vulnerability Panels.

North Kent Domestic Abuse Forum is not a sub-group of the CSP and existed prior to the 
formation of the joint CSP.  Representatives from both our CSUs already both attend the 
Forum’s meetings and would continue to do so in the event of the merged CSP arrangements 

Page 74



5

coming to an end.  The Forum does not report directly to the CSP and therefore, there would 
be no impact on reporting procedures.

3. Consultation and Responses Received

3.1 All statutory partner representatives were contacted and briefed on the proposed de-merger in 
late August/early September.  A letter was then sent to each of the following from the Chief 
Executive and the Leader on 17 September 2020 setting out the proposal, requesting a 
response confirming whether they were supportive of the move:

Kent Police – Supt. Neil Loudon, North Kent and Swale
Kent Fire and Rescue Service – Phillip Rice, Group Manager, West Kent
NHS Kent and Medway CCG – Mike Gilbert, Executive Director, Corporate Affairs
Kent County Council – Barbara Cooper, Corporate Director, Growth, Environment and 
Transport (who consulted with Mike Hill, Cabinet Member and Shafick Peerbux, Head of 
Community Safety)
Kent Surrey and Sussex CRC – Stephen Peel, Senior Probation Officer
Dartford Borough Council – Councillor Jeremy Kite, Leader

  3.2 Responses were received from each of the above indicating considerable majority support for 
the de-merger, with some having been very positive about the proposal. Dartford Borough 
Council made clear that they would have preferred the Partnership to remain a joint one but 
agreed to respect Gravesham’s wish to have an independent CSP and therefore, conceded to 
a de-merger.  Dartford colleagues have agreed to work with us to ensure that we now achieve 
this in an orderly way.  

3.3 The only potential issue flagged by Kent Police was that the move would increase the number 
of meetings that the Area Commander would be invited to attend and that it may mean that the 
CSU Inspector would need to cover some meetings instead.  We confirmed that we would be 
happy with this arrangement as we feel certain that the representation of Kent Police by the 
local CSU Inspector, who will have the operational and detailed knowledge of the issues within 
our area, will be very helpful.  We have been mindful of not placing additional burdens on 
partners’ time and have indicated that we will also look at making the remote joining of meetings 
an option to make attendance easier.  Quarterly meetings would hopefully not be overly onerous 
and quarterly meetings are, in fact, the norm in other Districts.

3.4 It seems that putting forward a de-merger has also come at a fortuitously advantageous time: 
KFRS, NHS Health/CCG and KSS CRC/Probation are all currently in the process of completing 
the restructuring of their own services and are looking at making participation in CSPs a 
responsibility for potentially more operational representatives as they feel this would be more 
helpful. 

 
3.2 Changes implemented through the Police and Social Responsibility Act 2011 passed the 

authority for approving the merger (and by implication de-merger) of CSPs from the Home 
Office to Police and Crime Commissioners.  An application was submitted on 13 October 2020 
to obtain the formal approval for the de-merger from the Kent PCC, Matthew Scott. A response 
was received from the Commissioner on 14 October 2020 confirming his support and approval.  
Consequently, the meeting of the CSP held on 15 October 2020 was able to confirm that this 
was the last joint meeting that would be held, that the joint Partnership has now effectively been 
dissolved and that each Borough will progress with the establishing of their own dedicated 
CSPs.  

3.3 In the light of Gravesham’s withdrawal, there is no advantage to completing a joint Strategic 
Assessment of crime and disorder this year.  Therefore, it was recommended to and agreed by 
the CSP meeting on 15 October that individual Assessments would be completed for each 
Borough.  This will also help begin the process of having a firm focus on local priorities and 
putting in place programmes of work to fully address those priorities at Borough level.  

Page 75



6

3.4 A delegated decision has been taken by the Cabinet Lead Member, Councillor Shane Mochrie-
Cox, countersigned by the Leader of the Council, for the withdrawal of Gravesham from the 
joint CSP (signed on 15 October 2020) in order that a dedicated District-level Partnership can 
now be established.  The Statement of Independent Cabinet Member’s Decision has now also 
been published.

4. Anticipated timetable moving forward

4.1 A draft timetable is provided below of key work to be concluded over the next few months 
following the withdrawal from the joint Partnership to establish a Gravesham CSP:
Activity Timeframe
Report Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee 12 Nov 2020
Amendment to the Council’s Register of Partnerships to reflect the 
new CSP Nov 2020
Completion of annual Strategic Assessment (audit of crime and 
disorder) Nov-Dec 2020
First meeting of the new Gravesham CSP which will consider/agree:

 New draft Terms of Reference, organisational structures, 
reporting processes, title and logo for the CSP;

 Findings of the Strategic Assessment and proposed priorities 
for a new Community Safety Strategy;

 The format of the public consultation exercise to be followed 
on identifying community safety priorities.

14 Jan 2021

Report to Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee on the de-merger 
and new CSP. 21 Jan 2021
Completion of the public consultation process on community safety 
priorities, and assessment of findings (which will need to be fed into 
the new Strategy).

Late Jan-Feb 2021

Preparation of a draft Community Safety Strategy (public facing) and 
underpinning Action Plan (internal working document) Feb-Mar 2021
Approval of the draft Community Safety Strategy and Action Plan Mid-late Mar 2021
Formal launch of the new CSP and Strategy April 2021

 
5. Conclusion

5.1 Community safety, crime and ASB are a key priority for local people and matters that are high 
on the public agenda.  Establishing a new CSP dedicated to the Borough should invoke 
increased confidence amongst local people that the Council takes these matters very seriously 
and that a strong multi-agency relationship exists that is working proactively and collaboratively 
to reduce crime and disorder.  The creation of a new CSP will provide an opportunity to give 
the Partnership a stronger profile than has previously been possible as a primary vehicle for 
tackling these issues at a local level.

Page 76



7

APPENDIX 1
IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             
Legal The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a statutory duty on ‘responsible 

authorities’ to work in partnership to reduce crime and disorder. Community 
Safety Partnerships (CSPs) are made up of representatives from the following 
responsible authorities: police; local authorities; fire and rescue authorities, 
probation/community rehabilitation services; health authorities (clinical 
commissioning groups).
The de-merger of the joint Partnership has been formally approved by the Kent 
Police and Crime Commissioner (under powers vested in him through the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011).

Finance and 
Value for Money

The move to an independent Gravesham CSP rather than a joint Dartford and 
Gravesham CSP does not carry any financial implications.  Funds used to support 
community safety activity are through the Council’s internal budget (which will not 
be affected) and through funding secured by the Community Safety Unit through 
external bidding processes.  A locally-focussed CSP will be cost-effective as 
officer time will be dedicated to local issues rather than on occasion having to take 
account of community safety matters across both Dartford and Gravesham.

Risk assessment Failure to have an effective Partnership in place would be damaging to the 
Council’s reputation and be a failure of the duty created by the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998.
A data protection impact assessment (OPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? No.

b. If yes to question a., have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice? N/a

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b., please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community?  No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? Yes – it will increase our 
ability to focus on areas and communities that experience crime and ASB 
disproportionately.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Business Plan

The establishing of a District-level CSP makes a direct contribution to improving 
public safety linked to People and Place in the Council’s Corporate Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

The Gravesham CSP will be a key driver of the Council’s programme of work to 
improve community safety and reduce crime and ASB.

Climate Change None.
Digital/website 
website 
implications

Once established, the Community Safety pages on the Council web-site will need 
to be updated.  The public consultation process in developing the new Community 
Safety Strategy will need to be an online survey and the final Strategy should be 
published on the Council’s website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies and this will be reflected in the new Community 
Safety Strategy.

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 09 November 2020 / 11 November 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 
2020/21 – Quarter Two 

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including projected variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2020/21 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30th September 2020, as well as updating Members on other key 
areas of financial performance.

1.2. The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring 
reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring all recruitment activity to be considered and approved by Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 79 Agenda Item 12



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Revenue

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two, there is a projected overspend for the year of £2,360,950. 
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year are 
largely attributable to reduced income projections arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

2.2. The council ended 2019/20 in a favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £85,800 
to be approved for carry forward into 2020/21.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is projected to be £8.86m, constituted of the 
minimum working balances of £2.0m, the General Fund reserve of £3.25m and usable 
Working Balances of £3.61m.

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in reserves of £0.76m, 
with the level of reserves being £11.91m at start of year, and projected to be £11.15m at 
year- end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the long-term future of local government funding and the financial 
consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic.

2.6. Capital

2.7. The General Fund Capital Programme working budget is £33.52m, including £6.95m to 
support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property portfolio; £4.7m for 
developing Land at Dering Way and £14.2m for The Charter development works.  Actual 
spend for Quarter Two was £2.58m. 

3. REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2020/21

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2020/21 was £11,543,950, funded by a 
combination of retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, and Council Tax.  It 
also enabled a contribution of £270,100 to be made to Usable Working Balances, in 
accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The table on the next page sets out the current assessment of performance against the 
Original Budget by Directorate, based on known and projected variances as at 30 
September 2020. 

Page 80



3

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2020/21 (£)

Forecast 
2020/21 (£)

Variation 
2020/21 (£)

Chief Executive 26,810 26,810 0
Communities 3,509,280 4,693,900 1,184,620
Corporate Services 2,978,780 3,828,840 850,060
Housing & Operations 3,680,230 3,746,740 66,510
Planning & Development 1,850,240 1,919,630 69,390
Items Carried Forward from 2019-20 0 85,800 85,800
Non-Directorate Specific 850,200 850,200 0
Interest and Investment Income (850,000) (745,430) 104,570
Government Grant Funding (1,267,930) (1,267,930) 0
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (515,180) (352,180) 163,000
Transfers to/ (from) balances 603,010 603,010 0
Transactions below the line 678,510 515,510 (163,000)
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,543,950 13,904,900 2,360,950

Business Rates Income (3,698,510) (3,698,510) 0
Council Tax Income (7,144,320) (7,144,320) 0
Parish Precepts (368,210) (368,210) 0
New Homes Bonus (603,010) (603,010) 0
Transfers to Working Balances 270,100 270,100 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 2,360,950 2,360,950

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £1,185k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Leisure Services Income: £149k adverse variance – the Council has considered 
financial support to Gravesham Community Leisure Limited who manage Cascades and 
Cygnet Leisure Centres within the borough, in the light of the centres’ enforced closure 
resulting from government actions to combat Covid-19. Resultantly, fees payable for 
quarters one and two of 2020/21 have been waived with the effect of reduced income to 
the council of £149k.

3.3.2. Woodville & Market income: £118k adverse variance – due the outbreak of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and government measures designed to combat the spread of the 
virus, both The Woodville and Borough Market ceased operations immediately in March 
2020.  Following the partial lifting of restrictions, the Market reopened in early June, with 
a Woodville cinema offering commencing in early July (although the theatre itself 
remains closed and is not expected to reopen until later in 2020/21). Financial 
projections have been undertaken to analyse the impact of reduced income at both the 
Market and Woodville, with the combined effect projected at being £443k for the current 
financial year. 

Page 81



4

3.3.3. Following the Government’s announcement on 2 July of a Sales, Fees and Charges 
Compensation Scheme designed to support Local Authorities for lost income streams as 
a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, detailed guidance has been received and worked 
through enabling a first claim to be submitted on 30 September. For The Woodville, the 
projected full-year compensation is currently anticipated to be £325k, therefore giving 
rise to the projected net adverse variance for 2020/21 of £118k.  Market rental income is 
not covered by the compensation scheme.

3.3.4. Rental Income: £466k adverse variance – the Council’s original budget for 2020/21 
included an estimation of £4,625k for rental income, predominantly within the 
Communities directorate.  An exercise has been undertaken to evaluate this income 
stream closely in the light of the Covid-19 pandemic which has included an assessment 
of the likely impact on properties acquired under the Council’s Property Acquisition 
Programme, as well as existing sites held such as Industrial Units and District Shopping 
Centres. 

3.3.5. For the most significant income streams and where greater information is known about 
tenants and payment habits, detailed projections have been considered. For the residual 
items held under the rental income heading, an estimate of a 25% potential income 
reduction has been applied. The net effect of both sets of calculations is a projected 
adverse variance of £466k for 2020/21.

3.3.6. Parking Income: £452k adverse variance – following the lockdown announcement of 
23 March in response the Covid-19 pandemic, parking charges – both on-street and 
within car parks – were suspended whilst government restrictions were in place to 
combat the spread of coronavirus. As restrictions were partially lifted, parking charges 
and enforcement were reintroduced across the borough from June, however, with no 
income being realised across the first two months of the financial year and lower levels 
of usage since this time, there is adverse effect on the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Plan.

3.3.7. Additionally, with the proposed development of The Charter gaining momentum in 
2020/21, it had anticipated that Horn Yard and Market Square car parks would be closed 
from September 2020. Officers in Finance have been working with the Parking Services 
Manager on updated income projections to take account both of these closures, and the 
wider income reduction arising from the Covid-19 pandemic. The net effect of these 
projected income reductions is an adverse variance of £1,020k in 2020/21.

3.3.8. In the same fashion as described in section 3.3.3, the compensation claim for lost 
income submitted includes elements relating to Parking Services. This is anticipated to 
have a positive effect of £568k, thus reducing the net projected variance for the service 
to £452k for 2020/21.

3.3.9. Safer Stronger Communities: Neutral variance – the Council has successfully 
secured a Crime Reduction Grant of around £35k from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner to support the Community Safety service. This will be directed to the 
upgrade of CCTV cameras in key locations within the town centre and other known 
areas of crime.

3.3.10. Market Equipment: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £33k has been made 
available to finance necessary works at the Borough Market to extend the number of 
units capable of accommodating food traders. This incorporates a combination of 
electrical, extraction and kitchen works, and will extend food-trading capabilities to an 
additional six units. This links with the vision set out in with the Market Strategy, which 
was formally adopted in May 2020, for the market to become a key local destination 
within the community, with food as its core offer.

Page 82



5

3.4      CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £850k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1 Fees & Charges: £758k adverse variance – work is ongoing across the Council’s 
finances to assess the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, particularly in relation to a 
range of fees and charges budget lines. For significant income streams, detailed 
projections have been ascertained following work between the Finance team and budget 
holders e.g. Parking, Planning, Rental Income, with variances reported within their 
respective directorates. For the residual items within fees & charges across all 
directorates, an assumption of a 25% reduction has been applied and recorded under 
Corporate Services, giving rise to a projected £800k adverse variance.  This assumption 
has been derived on the basis of little income realised April-June, with a staggered 
increase occurring across the rest of 2020/21. It is consistent with expectations of other 
District Councils in Kent, and will continue to be monitored throughout the year.

3.4.2 In line with the Government’s Sales, Fees & Charges Compensation Scheme, described 
more fully in section 3.3.3, £42k is projected to be received relating to residual fees & 
charges income lines, giving rise to the net reported adverse variance here of £758k.

3.4.3 The Charter: £81k adverse variance – In order to facilitate the building of The Charter, 
the Council will be borrowing £82m from PWLB and onward lend it to Rosherville, its 
wholly-owned trading company, during the construction phase.  Interest will be payable 
on the loans but as Rosherville will not be generating income during the construction 
phase, the Council will need to meet the interest costs.  The interest costs over the 
construction phase will total around £2.3m.  On practical completion, the Council will 
refinance the loan and will capitalise the interest costs as part of this refinancing to 
enable Rosherville to repay the interest costs the Council has incurred.  Therefore, 
whilst there is an adverse variance in 2020/21, there is ultimately a nil impact on the 
MTFP.

3.4.4 Property Fund Management Fees: £11k adverse variance – The Council invested 
£10m across three Property Fund’s in 2016.  Each Property Fund pays a quarterly 
dividend to the Council, which is treated as investment income.  However, the dividend’s 
payable are reduced by fees which are incurred as part of the day to day management 
of the funds, such as legal costs.  As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, Property 
Funds have incurred additional costs to collect rental income and renegotiate tenancies 
to avoid properties becoming vacant.   Therefore, the Council has seen higher 
management fees as a result.

3.4.5 Climate Change Initiatives: Neutral variance – as part of the budget-setting process,
the establishment of a £500k Climate Change earmarked reserve was agreed at Full 
Council in February 2020. In quarter two of 2020/21, a scheme to replace litter bins and 
trial recycling “on-the-go” at St Andrew’s Gardens has been developed, for which £3k 
has been made available from the reserve. 

3.4.6 A further £12k has been released from the reserve to purchase the “Carbon Reduction 
Options for Housing Managers” (CROHM) package which is designed to create a 
detailed model of the energy performance of the Council’s housing stock. This system 
will also have the ability to model scenarios and costings for specific carbon reduction 
work the Council may wish to consider in the future.

 

 

Page 83



6

3.5     HOUSING & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE  – £66k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1 Garden Waste Collection Service: £37k favourable variance – the garden waste 
subscription service continues to expand in 2020/21.  This additional volume of around 
1,600 new customers since April 2020, in conjunction with a review of the existing 
charging structure from the same date, has led to additional net income of £37k 
compared to the original budget. 

3.5.2 Waste Recycling Income: £15k favourable variance – income received from recycling 
credits has been higher than budgeted due to an increase in recyclable waste in the first 
quarter of the year.

3.5.3 Increased fuel costs: £20k adverse variance – following the recent expansion of the 
Brookvale Depot fleet of vehicles, combined with additional domestic collection and fly-
tipping recovery journeys as an indirect consequence of lockdown measures associated 
with the Covid-19 pandemic, there is projected additional fuel expenditure of £20k in 
2020/21.

3.5.4 Trade Waste Collections: £98k adverse variance – as a result of government 
restrictions following the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, many local businesses 
were required to close temporarily and thus no longer required the Council’s trade waste 
collection services. Although many have now re-opened, some are running at reduced 
capacity compared to pre-lockdown, with others closed permanently. There is therefore 
a reduced demand for trade waste collection services, which gives rise to the projected 
income deficit of £98k for 2020/21.

3.6     PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE –  £69k ADVERSE  VARIANCE

3.6.1 Planning Services Income: £37k adverse variance – there has been a reduction in 
demand for planning experienced in the first part of the year.  The volume of planning 
applications since lockdown was announced on 23 March has decreased by 20-25%. 
This has been experienced at both a national and local level, and has occurred due to 
the restrictions in place delaying applications and works that were previously envisaged. 
Although it is hoped that volumes will increase during the rest of the year, an overall 
income reduction of 25% is currently expected, equating to a financial reduction of 
£103k for 2020/21.

3.6.2 It is anticipated that through the Government’s Sales, Fees & Charges Compensation 
Scheme outlined in section 3.3.3, a full-year reimbursement of £66k will be received 
relating to Planning Services. This will reduce the projected overall budgetary impact of 
the Covid-19 pandemic within the service to £37k.

3.6.3 South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership: £32k adverse variance – in 
a similar fashion to the variance described above, Building Control activity has been 
substantially affected by lockdown restrictions arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.  The 
Partnership as a whole is forecasting an income deficit for 2020/21 of £512k, of which 
the Gravesham share would be £77k. This represents an additional £32k over and 
above the originally budgeted contribution payable from the Council to the Partnership of 
£45k.

3.6.4 Street-Lighting: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £50k each from the NNDR 
Growth Fund and Revenue Grants not yet applied has been made available to facilitate 
the conversion, where possible, of Council-owned street and amenity lighting to LED 
lighting, as well providing for maintaining and fixing existing assets.

Page 84



7

3.6.5 Bus interchange at Rathmore Road: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £15k has 
been made available as a contribution to a Kent County Council-led project to implement 
a new bus hub to improve the transport interchange between bus and rail in Gravesend 
town centre at Barrack Row.

3.7 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2019/20 – £86k

3.7.1 The following items from 2019/20 have been approved for carry forward to 2019/20 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team:

 
Summary of General Fund Revenue 2019/20 year-end carry forward requests
Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2020/21
Communities Community Engagement £7,610 Unspent MOD grant to be rolled forward. The MOD have agreed that this 

money can be carried forward and used against an appropriate project next 
year.

Communities Community Involvement £12,640 Unspent Community Involvement budget to be used to bolster activities and 
events in the new year due to the cancellation of a number of activities in 
2019/20. 

Communities The Woodville £15,000 Unspent Woodville budget to be rolled forward to cover the cost of new 
lighting in the Kent Room and Bar.

Communities Arts Development & Cultural 
Events

£6,000 Grant associated with The Arts Council Service Level Agreement. 
Outstanding information delayed due to organisational restructure. Funds will 
be re-aligned in the 2020/21 Service Level Agreement.

Communities Arts Projects £3,450 Income received from ticket sales of the annual Outdoor Theatre held at 
Nurstead Court. The funds raised from the previous years performance will 
be used to cover 2020/21 production costs.

Communities Licensing £6,200 Budget needed to fund the cost of new tablets for the  Licensing Team, this 
has been delayed due to COVID-19.

Communities Major Outdoor Events £17,690 Social Values income received in 2019/20 which has not been allocated to 
events.  This will now be spent in 2020/21.

Corporate Services Corporate Management 
Expenses

£13,710 Budget to be rolled forward to pay for the solicitors cost for the sale of Lord 
Street car park.

Housing & Operations Burials Admin £3,500 Safety equipment required for grave excavation which is a legal requirement, 
the delivery of this equipment was delayed due to COVID-19.

Total carry-forward requests £85,800

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2019/20

3.8 INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £105k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.8.1 The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the world’s economy.  In the 
UK, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) made two emergency cuts in quick 
succession to the Bank of England Base rate, reducing it firstly from 0.75% to 0.25% 
and then further to 0.10%.  The value of equity markets has fallen to record lows and 
property rental income streams have become uncertain as business property 
requirements change.  

3.8.2 The Council generates investment income through dividends from Property Funds and 
Multi Asset funds as well as interest earnt from investing the remaining cash balances in 
Fixed Term deposits, Call accounts and Money Market Funds.  

3.8.3 Whilst Property Fund Managers are working closely with all their tenants to secure the 
rental income, a reduction in dividend income is expected as some companies will not 
be able to fully meet their rental obligations.  Void properties may not be able to re-let as 
quickly as they might previously have been and additional legal costs are being incurred 
to renegotiate tenancies. The forecast dividend from Property Funds this year is around 
£343k.

Page 85



8

3.8.4 The income from Multi Asset Funds is expected to be reduced for a number of reasons 
including some companies holding off paying shareholder dividends and investments 
not returning the expected level of interest due to the reduction in the Bank of England 
base rate.  The forecast dividend from Multi Asset Funds this year is approximately 
£329k.

3.8.5 For internally invested cash balances, the reduction in the Bank of England’s Base Rate 
will result in forecasted investment income of around £114k.

3.8.6 The combined effect of these forecasts, taking in account the allocation of investment 
returns to the HRA, result in an adverse variance on investment income of £105k.

3.9 FUNDING STREAMS – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.9.1 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance – 
under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded 
expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the 
specific service) are shown here. The total of £163k relates to projected reserve funded 
items as described within individual Communities, Corporate Services, and Planning & 
Development Directorate sections above.

3.10 WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES

3.10.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect    
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2019/20 10,350,750 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 603,010 
Budgeted contribution to Working Balances 270,100 
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2019/20) (2,360,950)
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2020) 
including Minimum GF Working Balance 8,862,910 
Less: Minimum GF balance (2,000,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (3,250,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2020) 3,612,910 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 86



9

3.10.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
final movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2020 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 369 (280) 50 139 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,320 (489) 100 931 

 Spend to Save Reserve 160 (162) 2 --  
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,649 (189) 359 1,819 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 250 --  --  250 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 111 (24) 12 99 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) 
Reserve 

25 (25) --  --  
Elections Reserve 74 --  --  74 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500 --  --  500 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 340 (330) 75 85 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 102 (105) 105 102 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,002 (400) 231 833 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 588 (110) 239 717 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 (100) --  50 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 227 --  58 285 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 --  --  500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 --  --  700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 948 --  --  948 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 483 --  210 693 
 Service Review Reserve 241 (158) --  83 
 Playgrounds Reserve 117 (55) --  62 
Decriminalisation Reserve 185 (285) 100 --  
Enterprise Reserve --  (349) 500 151 
Climate Change Reserve --  (15) 500 485 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 10,041 (3,076) 2,541 9,506 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,865 (228) --  1,637 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 11,906 (3,304) 2,541 11,143 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.10.3 New approved uses of reserves are already referred to within individual directorates – 
see sections 3.3.10, 3.4.5, 3.6.4 and 3.6.5.

3.10.4 Other reserve movements are forecast as per the original budget and will be updated 
once further expenditure plans/drawdowns are established.

Page 87



10

3.11     MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

3.11.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around cost pressures and central 
government funding announcements, together with building in all known variances to the 
Council’s budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The latest 
version of the Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

3.11.2 Following the recent conclusion of pay award negotiations, an increase for 2020/21 of 
2.75% has been paid in September, back-dated to April 2020. This is 0.75% above what 
was included in the original budget, and on a full staffing establishment would equate to 
an additional cost pressure of around £100k. The latest projections for staffing costs 
indicate that this rise can be contained within existing budgets due to less expenditure 
than expected in relation to employees, but will be monitored closely for the remainder 
of the year and reported appropriately in due course.

3.11.3 Although not expected to have a significant impact on 2020/21 budgets, the confirmed 
pay-award will have an impact on future years within the MTFP, where the compound 
year-on-year effect of this change will be over and above what has currently been 
budgeted for employee costs. The Finance team are commencing work on the salaries 
estimates process and will build in these projections accordingly, with the overall impact 
being part of the budget-setting papers produced for Members in early 2021.

3.11.4 The Covid-19 pandemic has significantly affected the Council’s financial outlook in 
2020/21.  As set out within the previous sections of the report, it is anticipated that 
during the current financial year the Council will see significant reductions of income, for 
example in the following areas:

 Rental income payments from tenants within commercial and investment properties 
 Fees charges – for example car parking income and receipts at The Woodville
 Investment income from Property and Multi-Asset Funds
 Council Tax and Business Rates 

3.11.5 As referenced elsewhere in this report, on 2nd July the Government announced a Sales, 
Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme whereby 75% of sales, fees and charges 
related income losses arising from the Covid-19 pandemic, beyond 5% of budgeted 
income, would be reimbursed.  Under the scheme, amounts claimed are based on net 
losses i.e. compensating reductions in expenditure are also taken into account.  
Reimbursements work on an instalment basis, with claims submitted in September & 
December 2020, and April 2021.  The first claim was submitted on 30th September 
(covering the period April to July 2020) and amounted to £300,925.

3.11.6 The full year projected compensation for Gravesham is currently around £1m and is 
dominated by claims relating to Parking, Planning, Waste and Woodville services. It 
should also be noted that the scheme is subject to further MHCLG refinements over the 
coming months and will be impacted by actual income received in the remainder of the 
financial year. The mechanism does not cover:

 Losses from commercial rental income and investment income
 Voluntary decisions made locally which result in losses which are out of line with 

government guidance. 

Page 88



11

3.11.7 As of writing, the Council has received around £1.3m funding from Central Government 
in order to assist with expenditure pressures associated with responding to the 
pandemic.  This comprises of three separate tranches received of £53k, £1,054k and 
£194k respectively. 

3.11.8 On 22 October Local Government Secretary Robert Jenrick confirmed allocations for 
individual councils from the £1 billion of additional support announced by the Prime 
Minister earlier in the month.  £919 million has been allocated to Tranche 4 funding for 
the ongoing work of councils to support communities during the pandemic. Gravesham’s 
allocation was £486k.  A further £100 million will be used to introduce a new fund which 
will support council leisure centres most in need. Further details on the scheme will be 
set out shortly.

3.11.9 In relation to Council Tax and Business Rates, the Government is implementing a 
further scheme to assist with Covid-19 related income shortfalls. Whilst under      

            conventional collection fund accounting arrangements, any deficits experienced in 
            2020/21 would normally be repayable from the General Fund in the following year i.e. 
            2021/22, provision has been made to spread these payments over a three year-period 
            instead. This will assist both the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan and cash-flow 
            arrangements over the next three years.

3.11.10 The Council has also been acting in an agency capacity, administering a series of 
business grants as part of a national scheme the Government designed to help   

           support local economies. As of writing, some £14.7m has been distributed to local 
        businesses qualifying under this scheme, which has been enabled through cross-

departmental working involving officers from the Finance, Revenues & Benefits and 
Economic Development teams.

3.11.11 The financial environment within which the Council operates continues to remain 
challenging and with significant uncertainty in 2020/21 and future years.  The Spending 
Review scheduled for 2020 is expected to be published in November 2020.  The 
Government confirmed on 21 October that this will cover a one-year period only and 
focus on prioritising the economic response to the coronavirus crisis.  The Fair Funding 
Review which was originally due to take place during 2020/21 has been postponed until 
after April 2021.

3.11.12 In addition to announcements about financial recovery and support packages arising  
           from the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government also intends to publish its recovery and 
           devolution paper in autumn this year. However, there has been press speculation that 
           this may now be deferred into 2021 to enable the current focus on the Covid-19 
           pandemic.

Page 89



12

4.       GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter Two.  This includes the revised original budget for 2020/21, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme

2020/21 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2020/21 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2020/21 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2020/21 
Actual 

Expenditure       
£

Outstanding 
Balance             

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 898,870 0 898,870 549,180 (349,690)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 14,830 0 14,830 0 (14,830)
Parrock St Car Park - resurfacing 11,740 0 11,740 26,990 15,250
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 275,830 0 275,830 133,170 (142,660)
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 108,690 0 108,690 0 (108,690)
Replacement Playground Programme 104,870 0 104,870 0 (104,870)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 40,000 0 40,000 0 (40,000)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 0 1,400,000 0 (1,400,000)
Property Acquisition Programme 3,286,980 0 3,286,980 0 (3,286,980)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 3,658,810 0 (3,658,810)
Land at Dering Way 4,702,910 0 4,702,910 1,110,620 (3,592,290)
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 130,000 0 130,000 35,640 (94,360)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 29,440 0 29,440 25,710 (3,730)
Heritage Assets 388,580 0 388,580 6,950 (381,630)
Gym Equipment  Leisure Centres 386,000 0 386,000 338,200 (47,800)
Back up Generator 75,000 0 75,000 0 (75,000)
Parking Machines 251,200 0 251,200 0 (251,200)
LATCO development costs 24,110 0 24,110 5,510 (18,600)
LATCO working capital provision 500,000 0 500,000 274,990 (225,010)
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages 2,000,000 0 2,000,000 0 (2,000,000)
Town Centre Improvements 67,590 0 67,590 70,350 2,760
Parking Software 74,750 0 74,750 0 (74,750)
Purchase of Freighters 400,000 0 400,000 0 (400,000)
Enforcement of Private Housing Standards 55,000 0 55,000 0 (55,000)
IT Infrastructure Assets 330,000 0 330,000 0 (330,000)
The Charter 0 14,156,770 14,156,770 0 (14,156,770)

19,365,200 14,156,770 33,521,970 2,577,310 (30,944,660)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2020/21

 Essential Repairs to Buildings 

The following work has been completed this year:
- Refurbishment of First Floor Flats;
- The replacement of the main roof at Cascades Leisure Centre, for which the majority 

of costs will be reimbursed via an insurance claim.
- Flume repairs at Cascades Leisure Centre

On-going work to be funded from the Essential Repairs budget includes:

- LED lighting for the remainder of the council building - work is now being planned to 
replace the lighting in the basement and foyer areas;

- Cascade Ceiling repairs;
- Rebuilding a section of retaining boundary Churchyard Wall at St Peter’s and St 

Paul’s Church in Milton.

Page 90



13

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – the infrastructure of both Cemeteries (such as 
litter bins) is currently being reviewed to establish the priority of improvements.

 Parrock Street Car park resurfacing – the resurfacing work has now been completed 
with all invoices have now been paid.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – the fleet replacement programme for 2020/21 is in 
place with vehicles having either been ordered or delivered.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – KCC approval has been received to Automatic Number 
Plate Recognition (ANPR) enforcement of the King Street bus gate. Finalisation of the 
legal agreement is awaited prior to capital expenditure on the equipment being made.

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – the review of all flatted developments across 
the borough is underway to establish what bins are required to enable residents in flats 
to be able to recycle their waste. A project plan for the implementation of recycling bins 
in flats will be produced once the review has been completed.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the administrative aspects of the trade 
waste service have been successfully transferred onto the Bartec Collective System. 
The team are currently looking at the digital options available for playground; open 
space and tree inspections.

 Replacement Playground Programme – a 20 year replacement programme is in 
place, however any renewals for 2020/21 are currently under review due to restrictions 
arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – the final specification for this work is being 
prepared and will then be tendered.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – as a result of lockdown restrictions arising from 
the Covid-19 pandemic there have been delays to commencement of the private vehicle 
servicing operation. This has had a corresponding delay on work to redesign the 
Brookvale depot. As Covid-19 related restrictions are lifted, attentions are now returning 
to this scheme with an updated expenditure schedule to be prepared in due course.

 Property Acquisition Programme – this activity is currently on hold given the 
pandemic situation.  The Property Acquisition Strategy has been reviewed and property 
investment guidance updated to assist with future investment proposals and as a tool in 
the ongoing management and monitoring of the portfolio.  This updated guidance was 
considered by the Commercial Services Cabinet Committee and was adopted by Full 
Council on 6 October 2020.

 Land Acquisition Programme – the council continues to maintain an overview of 
strategic land sites in the borough so that, as sites come to the market, their acquisition 
can be considered as a means of delivering development and revenue generating 
opportunities for the council and the wider borough in the future.

 Land at Dering Way – as a first step, a master planning exercise of the various 
landholdings in the wider area has been undertaken, considering complementary uses 
of the adjacent land holdings to ensure that development in that area maximises 
benefits to the council and to the wider community, taking advantage of opportunities to 
improve access to and provision of services, green space and high quality housing.  A 
final report is being worked upon to include additional material received from Southern 

Page 91



14

Water, and a Supplementary Planning Document will be produced.  As such, the project 
has been re-profiled within the Capital Programme.

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) – the works to re-enliven the mall areas of the 
St George’s Centre have now been completed.  Further works at the site have been re-
profiled within the Capital Programme, in line with the latest projected pattern of 
development.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – the major internal and external works have now 
been completed and will be operational once the pools are fully re-open. Only minor 
follow up painting/snagging works remain, which will be completed in due course.

 Heritage Assets – Capital expenditure relates to surveys and site investigations in 
support of progressing works to the council’s heritage property assets, including repairs 
to the Larkin Memorial, Higham, a conservation management plan for Gravesend 
Cemetery and maintenance of the Gravesend Blockhouse.  Preparations have been 
made for works to the riverwall at St Andrew’s, which has been out to tender, with 
method options currently being reviewed.  Submissions to the National Heritage Lottery 
Fund have been on hold due to Covid-19, but it is an aspiration to submit applications to 
that fund, once supporting information is in place.

 Gym Equipment Leisure Centres – Cascades and Cygnet Leisure Centres have both 
received brand new fitness kit which was installed prior to the re-opening of the sites on 
25 July. In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, a decision has been made in partnership with 
GCLL not to replace the specialist spin bike equipment at the present time and so 
approximately £47k is left within the capital budget for future replacement, anticipated to 
take place later in 2020/21.

 Back-up Generator – tender documents to procure a back-up generator have been 
prepared.  The project manager is currently making arrangements for the tender to be 
issued.

 Parking Machines - Options are currently being appraised for replacement and 
upgrade of Pay & Display machines and recommendations will be put forward for 
decision later in the year.

 LATCO Development Costs – the work has now been completed; no further costs are 
expected.

 LATCO Working Capital Provision – in June 2020 the Cabinet considered and 
approved the release of funding to support the proposed working budget for Rosherville 
Limited. A request for drawdown of funds was subsequently received from the Chairman 
of Rosherville Limited. 

 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Trustees are continuing to seek external grant funding 
and evaluate tender submissions in order to take this scheme forward, and will return to 
officers in due course once pre-conditions of the Council’s loan agreement have been 
met.

 Town Centre Improvements – the capital budget expenditure to date has funded the 
acquisition of a MV7000 Gladiator Machine to assist with street cleansing and gum 
removal, and is now operational in the Town Centre.  The remaining budget will be 
spent on the purchase of 28 Big Belly bins as itemised in the report to Full Council on 25 
February 2020.

Page 92



15

 Parking Software – a supplier has been confirmed and an order has been placed for 
supply, installation and training in accordance with the figure in the Capital Budget.

 Purchase of Freighters – two new refuse collection vehicles are currently on order and 
due to be delivered during quarter three.  A replacement programme is in place to 
ensure refuse collection vehicles are replaced in a timely manner.

 Enforcement of Private Housing Standards – the planned enforcement action was 
delayed as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. However, the contractor started on site 
on 5 October 2020 and the works are estimated to be completed within 12 weeks.

 IT Infrastructure Assets - new IT Storage and Disaster Recovery hardware and 
software have been purchased for £183k. The hardware components have been 
delivered to the site, but the installation by Dell engineers was initially postponed due to 
the Covid-19 pandemic.  However, engineers are now making visits on-site again and a 
project manager has been assigned to Gravesham who will be leading officers through 
the installation process.  Procurement of a new telephony platform is about to begin, 
with the first procurement working group due to take place in quarter three.

4.2 Capital Resources

4.3 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future:    

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2020                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2020/21                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2020/21                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2021           
£

Capital Receipts (596,280) (6,670) 602,950 0
S106 Capital Contributions (531,050) 0 67,590 (463,460)
Capital Grants unapplied (147,190) 0 0 (147,190)
Total Capital Resources (1,274,520) (6,670) 670,540 (610,650)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2020/21

Capital Grants Unapplied
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2020                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2020/21                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2020/21              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2021              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 (2,970) 0 0 (2,970)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (147,190) 0 0 (147,190)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2020/21

Page 93



4.4 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          £

HRA               
£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2020/21                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0 0 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.
Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,460) (259,460)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Total S106 Contributions (531,050) 0 (81,000) (612,050)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2020/21

P
age 94



5 TREASURY MANAGEMENT

5.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 25 February, Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2020-21, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

5.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 30 September 2020 can be found at Appendix Three 
of this report.

5.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy which prior to Covid-19 were generating the following returns: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 

in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-

4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.67%.
d) A total of £22.9m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 

acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

5.4 Due to the current economic climate, investment returns have reduced but are being 
carefully monitored by Officers within Finance, who are in regular contract with the 
External Fund Managers.

5.5 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management advisors.

5.6 The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee kept Bank Rate unchanged on 6 

August.  It also kept unchanged the level of quantitative easing at £745bn. It’s forecasts 
were optimistic in terms of three areas.

 The fall in GDP in the first half of 2020 was revised from 28% to 23% 
(subsequently revised to -21.8%). This is still one of the largest falls in output of 
any developed nation.  However, it is only to be expected as the UK economy is 
heavily skewed towards consumer-facing services – an area which was 
particularly vulnerable to being damaged by lockdown.

 The peak in the unemployment rate was revised down from 9% in Q2 to 7½% by 
Q4 2020.

Page 95



18

 It forecasts that there would be excess demand in the economy by Q3 2022 
causing CPI inflation to rise above the 2% target in Q3 2022, (based on market 
interest rate expectations for a further loosening in policy). Nevertheless, even if 
the Bank were to leave policy unchanged, inflation was still projected to be above 
2% in 2023.

5.7 It also squashed any idea of using negative interest rates, at least in the next six months 
or so.  It suggested that while negative rates can work in some circumstances, it would 
be “less effective as a tool to stimulate the economy” at this time when banks are 
worried about future loan losses.  It also has “other instruments available”, including QE 
and the use of forward guidance.

5.8 The MPC expected the £300bn of quantitative easing purchases announced between its 
March and June meetings to continue until the “turn of the year”.  This implies that the 
pace of purchases will slow further to about £4bn a week, down from £14bn a week at 
the height of the crisis and £7bn more recently.

5.9 The MPC acknowledged that the “medium-term projections were a less informative 
guide than usual” and the minutes had multiple references to downside risks, which 
were judged to persist both in the short and medium term.  However, localised lockdown 
measures should limit the amount of economic damage caused.  In addition, Brexit 
uncertainties ahead of the year-end deadline are likely to be a drag on recovery.  The 
wind down of the initial generous furlough scheme through to the end of October is 
another development that could cause the Bank to review the need for more support for 
the economy later in the year.  The Chancellor announced in late September a second 
six month package from 1st November of government support for jobs.  There was 
further help for the self-employed, freelancers and the hospitality industry.  However, this 
is a much less generous scheme than the furlough package and will inevitably mean 
there will be further job losses.

5.10 Overall, the pace of recovery is not expected to be in the form of a rapid V shape, but a 
more elongated and prolonged one after a sharp recovery in June through to August 
which left the economy 11.7% smaller than in February. The last three months of 2020 
are now likely to show no growth as consumers will probably remain cautious in 
spending and uncertainty over the outcome of the UK/EU trade negotiations concluding 
at the end of the year will also be a headwind. If the Bank felt it did need to provide 
further support to recovery, then it is likely that the tool of choice would be more QE.

5.11 There will be some painful longer term adjustments as e.g. office space and travel by 
planes, trains and buses may not recover to their previous level of use for several years, 
or possibly ever.  There is also likely to be a reversal of globalisation as this crisis has 
shown up how vulnerable long-distance supply chains are.  On the other hand, digital 
services have seen huge growth.

5.12 One key addition to the Bank’s forward guidance was a new phrase in the policy 
statement, namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear 
evidence that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and 
achieving the 2% target sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if 
inflation rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC to 
raise Bank Rate – until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going to be 
persistently above target if it takes no action to raise Bank Rate.

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 96



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2020/21 financial year, and 
assess full year projections to 31 March 2021. It also illustrates how the projected 
position affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the 
Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 97

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


20

Climate Change No direct impllications.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 98



MTFP V3 - BMR Q2 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 11,293,410 11,402,380 11,533,120 11,791,250 12,085,070 12,386,150 12,694,790 13,011,100 13,335,300 13,667,580 14,009,270 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 10,943,410 11,052,380 11,183,120 11,441,250 11,735,070 12,036,150 12,344,790 12,661,100 12,985,300 13,317,580 13,659,270 

Temporary Staff 375,010 375,010 384,380 393,980 403,830 413,930 424,280 434,890 445,760 456,910 468,330 

Wages 96,960 66,960 99,660 102,430 245,270 108,180 111,180 114,250 257,390 120,610 123,630 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 2,968,400 2,999,530 3,031,090 3,098,310 3,175,510 3,254,630 3,335,670 3,418,750 3,503,920 3,591,280 3,681,060 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,229,150 1,229,150 1,268,460 1,268,750 1,269,630 1,270,530 1,271,450 1,272,380 1,273,340 1,274,310 1,274,310 

Running Expenses 11,317,250 11,587,370 10,792,240 10,700,330 10,827,560 10,979,000 11,110,840 11,170,820 11,540,660 11,569,910 11,659,910 

Capital Financing 868,420 949,580 1,514,880 2,415,580 (447,550) 1,776,060 2,255,600 2,255,600 2,255,610 2,255,610 2,255,610 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (140,920) (140,920) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,195,260) (3,195,260) (3,295,930) (3,320,810) (3,382,590) (3,460,300) (3,492,890) (3,554,150) (3,622,850) (3,587,920) (3,587,920)

Other Government Grants (2,298,850) (5,006,840) (2,064,060) (2,085,970) (2,108,260) (2,130,930) (2,153,990) (2,177,440) (2,201,300) (2,225,560) (2,250,040)

Investment Income (850,000) (745,430) (772,000) (802,000) (832,000) (862,000) (892,000) (922,000) (952,000) (982,000) (1,012,000)

Fees & Charges (7,419,580) (4,904,160) (7,191,270) (7,179,690) (7,163,890) (7,175,680) (7,138,930) (6,984,430) (6,990,050) (6,995,820) (6,995,820)

Rental Income (4,624,530) (4,096,450) (4,738,530) (4,722,060) (4,722,160) (4,653,740) (4,742,960) (4,871,820) (4,918,090) (4,963,490) (5,008,160)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,818,450 3,526,440 785,000 730,000 660,000 585,000 505,000 560,000 160,000 405,000 405,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (515,180) (763,680) (1,581,110) 51,360 9,810 134,020 453,620 459,680 356,200 375,520 375,520 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 603,010 603,010 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 

Parish Precepts 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 11,543,950 13,904,900 10,279,020 13,021,540 10,650,230 13,291,510 14,434,680 14,899,070 15,167,670 15,685,720 16,122,480 

Business Rates Income (3,698,510) (3,698,510) (3,266,080) (3,313,100) (3,360,920) (3,409,560) (3,459,020) (3,509,320) (3,560,480) (3,612,510) (3,665,250)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (603,010) (603,010) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Council Tax Income (7,144,320) (7,144,320) (7,324,470) (7,515,620) (7,711,940) (7,913,510) (8,120,050) (8,331,980) (8,549,740) (8,773,050) (9,002,360)

Parish Precepts (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund --   --   379,390 373,150 373,150 --   --   --   --   --   --   

270,100 270,100 603,640 (1,894,470) 720,980 (1,296,940) (2,184,110) (2,386,270) (1,004,740) (547,000) (547,000)

0 2,360,950 --   --   --   --   --   (0) 1,381,210 2,081,660 2,236,370 

0 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   1,381,210 700,450 154,710 

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

Projected 

2024-25

Projected 

2028-29

Projected 

2027-28

Projected 

2020-21

Original 

2020-21

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2023-24

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2029-30

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2026-27

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £3.25m

Projected 

2021-22

P
age 99



MTFP V3 - BMR Q2 Appendix 2

2020-21    

Original

2020-21    

Projected

2021-22   

Original

2022-23    

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2028-29      

Original

2029-30      

Original

8,350,750 8,350,750 6,862,910 8,013,550 6,666,080 7,934,060 7,184,120 5,547,010 3,707,740 3,250,000 3,250,000

New Homes Bonus 603,010 603,010 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF 270,100 270,100 603,640 (1,894,470) 720,980 (1,296,940) (2,184,110) (2,386,270) (1,004,740) (547,000) (547,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 9,223,860 9,223,860 8,013,550 6,666,080 7,934,060 7,184,120 5,547,010 3,707,740 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget (0) (2,360,950) - - - - - 0 (1,381,210) (2,081,660) (2,236,370)

9,223,860 6,862,910 8,013,550 6,666,080 7,934,060 7,184,120 5,547,010 3,707,740 1,868,790 (212,870) (2,449,240)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 159,560 - - - - - - - - - -

Corporate Priorities Reserve 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,320,080 930,580 850,580 850,580 835,580 935,580 1,035,580 1,135,580 1,235,580 1,335,580 1,435,580

Planning Policy Reserve 369,170 138,570 106,970 111,370 135,770 185,770 235,770 285,770 335,770 385,770 435,770

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,649,040 1,818,940 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720

Decriminalisation (General) 184,640 - - - - - - - - - -

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 110,980 99,480 111,980 124,480 107,980 120,480 132,980 121,480 109,980 98,480 86,980

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 25,000 - - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 73,750 73,750 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000

IT Infrastructure Reserve 339,730 84,730 79,730 114,730 189,730 134,730 169,730 244,730 149,730 184,730 219,730

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,001,710 833,060 664,410 488,760 313,110 137,460 93,000 90,000 314,350 338,700 363,050

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Growth Fund Reserve 588,080 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Service Review Reserve 241,180 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000

Playgrounds Reserve 116,530 61,530 110,280 54,030 82,780 71,530 140,280 154,030 167,780 136,530 105,280

Woodville Repairs Reserve 227,570 284,820 342,070 399,320 456,570 513,820 571,070 628,320 685,570 742,820 800,070

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 483,590 693,680 710,780 708,310 708,320 698,060 711,440 730,770 737,710 744,520 751,330

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440

Housing & Commercial Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

Climate Change Reserve - 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Enterprise Zone Reserve - 151,340 297,850 439,430 575,980 707,410 833,610 954,460 1,069,870 1,179,730 1,289,590

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 19,264,660 16,383,840 15,953,370 14,657,260 15,935,050 15,319,130 14,135,640 12,753,050 11,270,300 9,564,160 7,703,310

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increase of £4.95 (2.44%) in 2020-21, then 2% thereafter.  Council Tax Base increased by 1.19% for 2020-21 budget-setting, and subsequently adjusted for potential Covid-19 impact. Growth of 0.60% annually thereafter.

Salary costs budgeted to increase by 2% in 2020-21 - representative of the anticipated pay award, with incrememental growth also accounted for where applicable.

Negative RSG removed for 2020-21 as per Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement.  NHB Scheme payments flatlined from 2021-22 pending the outcome of funding reforms planned from April 2021.

Business Rates income based on actual projected income to be received, net of S31 Grants for busines rate relief initiatives (shown in Other Government Grant Line), including Enterprise Zone benefit.

Projected revenue costs of interest payable and MRP associated with developing a new Leisure Centre within the Borough included, assuming centre is operational in 2025.

General Fund miniumum working balance set at £2m from 2020/21 onwards, General Reserve balance set at £3.25m from 2020/21 onwards.

Borrowing/interest costs associated with the Charter Development (through Rosherville Limited) - the Council will incurr these costs in the first 3-4 years of the scheme, with repayment expected in 2023/24.

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year               

P
age 100



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Broker Name Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 868 11/10/19 09/10/20 Lancashire County Council Tradition Maturity 1.1500% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 136 01/11/19 30/10/20 National Westminster Bank plc (RFB) King & Shaxson Maturity 0.9900% -5,000,000.00

Fixed Total 1.0500% -8,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.6000% -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total 0.6000% -1,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.0375% -40.70

Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity 
Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 0.0099% -7,158,872.88

Deposit MMF 6000Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.0375% -1,427,703.30

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L-1 18/05/20 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.0844% -4,866,000.00

MMF Total 0.0398% -13,452,616.88

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,158,884.82

Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,585,955.36

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -1,798,584.43

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -501,293.28

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -4,903,368.36

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 0.0000% -1,743,309.87

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -4,557,560.14

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -18,248,956.25

Deposit Total 0.2343% -40,701,573.13

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -40,701,573.13

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/09/2020

Page 1 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 22/10/20 14:46

P
age 101



Page 2 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 22/10/20 14:46

P
age 102



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 9 November / 11 November 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  – 
Quarter Two 2020/21

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2020/21 financial year for 
the second quarter to 30 September 2020 as well as updating Members on other key 
areas of financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good financial 
governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition to the 
reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, these 
actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, as 
set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 103 Agenda Item 13



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
there remains an anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year. The main variance within the forecast position compared to the 
original budget is an increased contribution to meet the anticipated reduction in rental 
income.  This is partially offset with the projected underspend within salaries.

2.2. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, the minimum level 
of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in a net 
decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £1.5m, with the level of reserves being £3.03m 
at start of year and projected to be £1.5m at year-end.

2.3. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform. 

Housing Capital

2.4. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £22.4m, with    
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter Two of £6.99m. Capital budgets 
totalling £1.816m have been carried forward to 2020/21, relating to the maintenance of the 
Council’s housing stock, the New Build programme and the provision of Disabled Facilities 
Grants.

Page 104



3

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2020/21

3.1.1. The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 September 2020.  As at 
30 September 2020 the forecast reflects a net adverse variance to original budget of 
£178k. The additional funds required will be met by an increased contribution from general 
reserves.

Description Original Budget 
2020/21 (£)

Forecast   
2020/21 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 6,037,100 5,779,400 (257,700)
Repairs and Maintenance 8,022,810 7,952,810 (70,000)
Depreciation 6,888,800 7,015,300 126,500
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 662,300 662,300 0
Capital Finance 8,516,010 8,516,010 0
Sub Total Expenditure 30,127,020 29,925,820 (201,200)
Rents of Dwellings (25,812,570) (25,477,570) 335,000
Other Rental Income (33,550) (33,550) 0
Service Charges (2,115,620) (2,115,620) 0
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (140,000) 0
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,480) (521,480) 0
Other Income (114,200) (70,200) 44,000
Sub Total Income (28,737,420) (28,358,420) 379,000
Contributions to/(from) reserves (1,389,600) (1,567,400) (177,800)
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2020/21

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £257k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £331k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2020/21 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that this 
will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-
to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of services. 
For the first six months to 30 September 2020, actual staffing spend was £331k lower 
than budgeted. 

3.2.2. Staff Pay Award: £36k adverse variance - the staff pay award for 2020/21 was agreed 
at a higher rate than anticipated and has resulted in an increased expense of £36k 
attributable to salaries.

3.2.3. Capita Housing System:  £38k adverse variance - the current housing system, Capita, 
will be supported beyond the previously advised sunset date.  The negotiated fee of £75k 
includes a premium for the service extension.  Some of this cost can be met from the 
existing budget for software support (£37k), reducing the impact of the negotiated fee to 
an expected overspend of £38k.  This will provide support to March 2021, enabling 
housing to provide an uninterrupted service to tenants while the development and 
implementation of the new system is underway.  

Page 105



4

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE - £70k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Repairs & Maintenance: £70k favourable variance – The Responsive Repairs Team, in 
line with Government guidance, carried out emergency works only in the first quarter of 
the financial year.  Since July the team have worked tirelessly to respond to the 
outstanding repairs that were not deemed emergencies in the lockdown period.  In these 
challenging time, the team have continued to deliver efficiencies and savings in its 
operations that have resulted in an expected favourable variance of £70k.

3.4. DEPRECIATION - £126k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1. Depreciation – £126k - adverse variance – the depreciation budget for 2020/21 is based 
on the asset valuation as at December 2019.  However, there is a revised depreciation 
charge for 2020/21 which reflects the higher HRA asset value as at 1 April 2020.  This has 
resulted in an increased charge to depreciation of £126k.

3.5. RENTS ON DWELLINGS - £335k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1. Rents on Dwellings - £300k – adverse variance – due to the impact of Covid-19, it is 
expected that there will be a negative impact on rent income in 2020/21.  The rental 
income continues to be monitored and if required, an appropriate adjustment will be made 
to the bad debt provision.

3.5.2. Void losses - £35k – adverse variance – during the initial lockdown period, Council 
properties that became vacant were not able to be re-let within the usual timescales, 
therefore during this period there was a loss of rental income which is estimated to be in 
the region of £35k.

3.6. OTHER INCOME - £44k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.6.1. Other Income – £44k - adverse variance – as a result of Covid-19, commercial income, 
income for hall lettings and investment returns will be affected.  At this stage, it is 
estimated to be in the region of some £44k.

3.7. Working Balances and Reserves
3.7.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 

balances: 

£
Balance Brought Forward from 2019/20 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2020/21 (1,567,400)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2020) including 
minimum HRA Working Balance 1,432,600

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 1,567,400

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 September 2020) 3,000,000
Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.7.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

Page 106



5

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2020   
(£)

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income)      
(£)

Forecast Use 
of Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
(£)

Forecast 
Balance 

31/03/2021   
(£)

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (3,037,750) 0 1,567,400 (1,470,350)

Total (3,037,750) 0 1,567,400 (1,470,350)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The Housing Capital programme for 2020/21 is £22,366,960, of which £20,658,970 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £1,707,990 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets include £941,660 and £875,190, respectively that are carried forward from 
2019/20.

4.2. The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent homes 
standard for the Council’s stock in 2020/21, with £7,330,110 earmarked for this purpose 
within the Replacement, Improvement, Health & Safety Works and Major Void Works 
Programmes.  An additional £929,000 capital budgets have been agreed including the 
replacement Housing Computer System, Fire Doors and Replacement Play Equipment.  
The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with £12,399,860 allocated 
for this purpose.

4.3. Quarter Two has seen the easing of lockdown measures enabling the majority of the 
programmes to re-commenced in accordance with Central Government guidelines.  The  
Kitchen and Bathroom programmes are set to commence in Quarter Three.

4.4. Due to the preparatory work completed in Quarter One by the contractors and surveyors, 
and the additional resources dedicated to the delivery of our programmes, the works 
remain on target for completion by the end of Quarter Four.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2020-21 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 4,122,450 2,964,050 (1,158,400)
B Improvement Programmes 1,702,350 916,310 (786,040)
C Health & Safety Works 1,305,310 905,230 (400,080)
D Major Void Works 200,000 21,310 (178,690)
E New Build & Acquisions 12,399,860 1,583,563 (10,816,297)
F Housing Computer Systems 600,000 361,590 (238,410)
G Replacement Play Equipment 103,750 0 (103,750)
H Bin Housing 13,190 0 (13,190)
I CCTV 37,060 0 (37,060)
J Fire Doors 175,000 0 (175,000)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 20,658,970 6,752,053 (13,906,917)
K Renovation Grants (DFG) 1,707,990 247,940 (1,460,050)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 22,366,960 6,999,993 (15,366,967)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2020/21

4.5. The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter Two 2020/21:

Page 107



6

4.5.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 29 kitchen replacements on void properties, planned programme is due to re-
commence in October 2020;

 12 bathroom replacements on void properties, bathroom programme re-
commencement to be confirmed;

 778 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, minor 
works and upgrades to consumer units;

 37 blocks has had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works completed;
 Windows and doors renewals to flats and the communal windows at Carl Ekman 

are 100% complete.  A further 6 properties had windows and door renewals 
completed.

4.5.2. Across the Replacement Programmes, £200k is expected to be rolled forward into 
2021/22 to enable the backlog of programmed works due to Covid-19, to be completed.

4.5.3. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 204 properties had new central heating systems/boilers installed;

 3 properties had new storage heating installed;

 4412 properties had CO (carbon monoxide) detectors installed;

 34 Wet room installations have been completed under the aids and adaptations 
programme.

4.5.4. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 Asbestos management removals completed for communal areas at various sites;

 Carl Ekman Sprinkler installation – 99% of properties completed with communal 
areas and plant room works outstanding;

 15 door entry systems upgrades have been completed;

 23 domestic asbestos surveys completed.

4.6. New Build (Ref D)

4.6.1. The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of additional 
social housing.  The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter Two:

 Construction continues on the former Whitehill Tenants Associations Club site 
where Westridge Construction Limited will deliver 24 x 1 and 2 bed apartments 
and 8 x 3 bed houses.  However, works has been severely disrupted due to the 
Global Pandemic Covid-19, with reduced labour on site and several sub-
contractors scaling back their operations.  Further delays with delivery of materials 
and connections of services has extended completion of the houses to December 
with the apartment block expected to hand over in March 2021;

Page 108



7

 Westridge Construction took possession of the Valley Drive Site in February 2020 
that will deliver 32 x 1 bed apartments for over 55’s and 16 x 1, 2 and 3 bed 
general needs apartments. However, disconnection of the mains services had 
been delayed due to the statutory undertakers suspending all non-emergency 
works due to Covid-19.  Electrical disconnection has taken place and gas 
disconnection will be carried out mid-November.  Demolition of the bedsits and 
garage block will follow disconnection.  All pre-commencement planning conditions 
have been discharged and following disconnection of all services, demolition will 
commence.  The development completion date is now expected in 2022;

 Westridge Construction took possession of the site at St Patrick’s Gardens in May 
to construct 23 x 1 and 2 bed apartments.  Construction is underway and residents 
are being kept updated by Westridge;

 Constable Road planning permission to construct 7 x 1 bed bungalows and new 
play area to the open amenity space. A contractor has been selected following a 
tender process via the South East consortium.  A report recommending approval to 
enter into a build contract will be taken to Cabinet in due course.

4.6.2. Our partners continue to work hard to maintain business continuity and keep the council 
informed of any changes and advice from Government and WHO, that could impact the 
business plans. The underlying message was the health and wellbeing of all staff, clients, 
and third-party suppliers was of paramount importance, and any measures in respect of 
social distancing and safe working practice would be implemented without fail.  
Following government guidance, increased labour on site has meant that work has 
progressed significantly despite the many challenges.  There are still some delays with 
the supply chain but our partners are continuously reviewing and evolving in order that 
construction can continue.

4.6.3. Despite the current impact from the Covid-19 pandemic, the council remains determined 
to deliver on its agenda of increasing the housing supply and continues to work with it’s 
stakeholders in the identification, design, and construction of good quality affordable 
homes.

4.6.4. The Housing Development Team are currently working on approximately 20 sites that are 
at various stages of the planning, design and build process from initial conception to 
works on site.

4.6.5. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2020, the RTB Allowable Debt reserve 
had a nil balance.  This was due to the proposal to use any balance from the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme. 

4.6.6. Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

4.6.7. The Council has made an offer, subject to property survey searches, to purchase 147 
Wrotham Road, which has been accepted.  The intention is to use the Christianfields 
Overage monies to fund the purchase from the open market with the balance being 
sourced from existing HRA resources.  The property’s intended use will be interim 
housing to assist vulnerable residents within the borough.  

Page 109



8

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-17 c/f 6,905,580 16,113,020 23,018,600 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-22
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-22
Q2 1,382,090 3,224,880 4,606,970 40,932,930 30-Sep-22
Q3 544,030 1,269,400 1,813,430 42,746,360 31-Dec-22
Q4 559,730 1,306,040 1,865,770 44,612,130 31-Mar-23

Q1 453,610 1,058,420 1,512,030 46,124,160 30-Jun-23
Q2 212,200 495,130 707,330 46,831,490 30-Sep-23

13,837,240 32,286,920 46,124,160

Table 5: New Build

4.7. Housing Computer System (Ref E)
4.7.1. Through the IT Project Manager (Housing System), work on the implementation of the 

new housing system has progressed well over Quarter Two, with some significant 
milestones being achieved.  Various teams within housing have been actively mapping 
out what their new processes will look like in the future, and those processes are now built 
into the new Housing Module.

4.7.2. A training environment has been created within the new system and a successful upload 
of data from the existing system into the training environment has been completed.  Now 
that some data is available in the new system, training for key officers is well underway.

4.7.3. Robust testing of the core Housing Module is due to take place throughout November 
2020, and assuming this goes well and any errors identified can be resolved, the Housing 
Module is likely to go live in January 2021, which is ahead of schedule.  The new system 
will be run in parallel with the existing system for a period of time to enable comparison of 
data, ensuring the accuracy of output.

4.8. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.8.1. A 20 year replacement plan has been agreed and included within the Housing Asset 
Business Plan.  However, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, there has been a delay with the 
commencement of the works.  The intention is to begin the programme of works set out 

Page 110



9

for 2020/21, however, it is possible that a proportion of the works may be carried forward 
into the new financial year.    

4.9. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I) 

4.9.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council, via the Better Care Fund, in 2020/21 was 
£832,800.  The total funding available is £1,707,980 which includes carry forward from 
2019/20 of £875,180.

4.9.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care.

4.9.3. With works being delayed due to Covid-19, there has been considerable progress made 
in Quarter Two including new referrals and the completion of the adaptations which had 
been approved prior to lockdown.

4.9.4. Safe distance working continues to apply to any works carried out to ensure the welfare of 
the target client base.  KCC Adult Social Care have now progressed the backlog of initial 
referral visits and continue to carry out assessments on a virtual platform.

4.9.5. There is a strong emphasis on processing single adaption grants via the small grants 
application to enable works to be processed in a shorter timeframe.  This will help reduce 
the length of time residents will wait if they make a grant application which incorporates a 
number of adaptions into one request.

4.9.6. A total of 72 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is as follows:

 6 grant cases were approved

 8 households had works completed

 2 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 56 grant cases are awaiting approval

4.9.7. The Council distributed £80,481 to private homeowners within the borough who qualify for 
Disabled Facility Grant assistance as well as other grants associated with the Better Care 
Fund.

4.9.8. A total of 54 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 
which enables people to gain access to funding which otherwise would not have been 
available.  It has assisted 52 people to have better managed hospital discharges into a 
safer home environment and a further 2 people have been assisted with energy 
measures.  This quarter has continued to see a significant increase in the number of 
people being discharged from hospital, compared to previous periods, as hospitals were 
facilitating quicker discharges to manage the pressures on the NHS due to the continuing 
Covid-19 pandemic.

4.9.9. Work around hoarding cases is especially of concern where patients are waiting to be 
discharged and to prevent them from continuing to remain the hospital.  The department 
has been working with the social care team, agents and families to ensure support and 
measures are provided as quickly as possible within the home.  Access is available in the 
form of to one to one support to best understand and assist residents with this specific 
issue.

Page 111



10

 

4.10. Capital Resources

4.10.1. The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2020 (£)

Income 
2020/21 (£)

Use of Funding 
2020/21 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2021 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,160,010) (259,490) 585,310 (834,190)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (86,180) 0 0 (86,180)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (86,170) (6,888,800) 6,550,520 (424,450)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (849,390) 0 694,200 (155,190)
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (6,443,440) (2,928,210) 2,278,100 (7,093,550)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve 0 (426,260) 426,260 0
Disabled Facility Grants (875,220) (832,800) 1,707,990 (30)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 766,000 0
General Reserve (revenue) (3,037,750) 0 1,567,400 (1,470,350)
Borrowing 0 0 8,102,500 0
Total (16,877,160) (11,335,560) 22,678,280 (13,636,940)

Table 6: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2020/21

4.10.2. Projected Capital Expenditure and funding requirements for the HRA can be found at 
Appendix Three to this report.
 

4.11. HRA Business Planning

4.11.1. The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

4.11.2. The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified in 
the recent Stock Condition Survey.  It also reflects future forecasts of the New Build 
Programme beyond the existing three year scheme based on the current assumption on 
the number of Council Houses sold per annum.

4.11.3. The latest version of the HRA Business Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two 
and Three.

4.11.4. On 9 October 2019 HM Treasury announced that it would increase the interest rates on all 
new loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) by 100 basis points (one 
percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.  This appeared to be in response to a 
substantial increase in the use of PWLB by local authorities over recent months, given the 
cost of borrowing had fallen to record lows.  This action effectively made the PWLB the 
lender of last resort for local authorities.

4.11.5. That increase was then reversed for some forms of borrowing on 11 March 2020, when 
the Government announced that local authorities could borrow for HRA schemes from the 
PWLB at up 120 basis point (1.2%) below standard rates.  At the same time the 
Government announced a consultation on the future of the PWLB.  The Council 
responded to the Consultation which closed on 31 July and we are currently awaiting the 
results and details of any potential changes.

Page 112



11

4.11.6. Ordinarily the Council assumes 30 properties will be sold per annum, however, in light of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, this is likely to be reduced to around 20 for the current financial 
year.

4.11.7. Further work will be undertaken over the coming weeks to review the impact the above 
changes will have on the Business Plan as well as other base assumptions within the 
model.

Page 113



12

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2020/21 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 114

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


13

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Original Budget 

inc C/Fwd Q2

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2020.21 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Replacement Programme 4,122 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Improvement Programme 1,702 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety 1,305 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Planned Maintenance 0 1,769 3,554 4,575 7,652 5,523 5,747 5,990 6,245 6,510

Kitchen 0 888 887 919 956 998 1,038 1,082 1,128 1,176

Bathroom 0 325 325 337 350 365 380 396 413 431

Heating Installations 0 1,141 1,069 1,108 1,152 1,203 1,251 1,304 1,360 1,417

Disabled Adaptations 0 522 509 527 549 573 596 621 647 675

Asbestos Management 0 60 71 74 77 80 83 87 91 94

Electrical Testing 0 1,181 809 527 549 573 596 621 647 675

Precaution Works 0 679 680 316 329 344 357 373 388 405

Communal 0 566 658 682 709 740 770 802 836 872

Major Voids 200 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Effects of COVID-19 0 (200) 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Savings Required 0 0 (1,231) (835) (3,565) (1,238) (1,293) (1,352) (1,413) (1,477)

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 7,330 7,130 7,411 8,230 8,759 9,160 9,525 9,925 10,342 10,778

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 104 104 24 24 24 0 0 0 0 0

Bin Housing 13 13 36 13 0 0 0 0 0 0

CCTV 37 37 18 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fire Doors 175 175 175 175 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 929 929 253 214 24 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

Purchases from the Market 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kings Farm 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Hilda's 0 (72) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Whitehill Road 0 3,909 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Valley Drive 0 4,488 3,772 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Claremont Place 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Chichester Rise 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Development Enabler 0 27 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Patricks Gardens 0 2,816 1,886 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Wilberforce Way 0 0 295 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rembrandt/Constable Drive 0 194 1,696 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Armoury Drive 0 0 984 250 0 0 0 0 0 0

Barr Road 0 1 348 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build 12,400 1,017 0 0 6,011 6,405 10,918 11,403 11,935 0

New Build Programme Unidentified Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure Total 12,400 12,400 8,981 250 6,011 6,405 10,918 11,403 11,935 0

New Build Historic Adjustment

Total Capital Expenditure 20,659 20,459 16,645 8,694 14,793 15,565 20,443 21,328 22,278 10,778

Financing

HRA Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MRR (7,583) (7,245) (7,664) (7,403) (7,640) (7,911) (8,168) (8,433) (8,707) (8,990)

RTB - Allowable Debt (752.887) (426.262) (556) (556) (556) (556) (556) (556) (556) (556)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB Buyback Allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (1,315.627) (585.311) (1,073) (252) (252) (252) (252) (252) (252) (252)

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve/RCCO (627) (627) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (2,278.098) (2,707.316) (1,846) (75) (1,803) (1,922) (3,275) (3,421) (3,581) 0

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 (766) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing (8,102.500) (8,102.500) (5,507) (409) (4,542) (4,925) (8,193) (8,666) (9,183) (981)

Total Financing (20,659) (20,459) (16,645) (8,694) (14,793) (15,565) (20,443) (21,328) (22,278) (10,778)

Net Over/Under Financing (0) 0 0.000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Original 

Budget Q2

HRA Budget Monitoring 2020.21 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 6,037 5,779 6,043 6,140 6,250 6,382 6,496 6,626 6,759 6,894

Repairs and Maintenance 8,023 7,953 8,031 8,159 8,306 8,481 8,633 8,806 8,982 9,162

Depreciation 6,889 7,015 7,154 7,403 7,640 7,911 8,168 8,433 8,707 8,990

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 662 662 663 674 686 700 713 727 741 756

Capital Finance 7,889 7,815 7,734 8,096 8,780 9,391 9,790 10,101 10,451 10,706

RCCO 627 627 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Savings Required 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 30,127 29,851 29,625 30,471 31,663 32,864 33,800 34,693 35,641 36,508

Income

Rents of Dwellings (25,813) (25,478) (26,443) (27,533) (28,551) (29,727) (30,559) (31,414) (32,290) (33,189)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34)

Service Charges (2,116) (2,116) (2,140) (2,197) (2,260) (2,332) (2,398) (2,468) (2,539) (2,613)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (114) (70) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114)

Total Income (28,737) (28,358) (29,393) (30,539) (31,620) (32,867) (33,767) (34,691) (35,638) (36,610)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (1,390) (1,493) (233) 68 (43) 3 (33) (3) (2) 102

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (1,390) (1,493) (233) 68 (43) 3 (33) (3) (2) 102

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 1,610 1,507 2,767 3,068 2,957 3,003 2,967 2,997 2,998 3,102

Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 1,390 1,493 233 (68) 43 (3) 33 3 2 (102)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 3,038 3,038 1,545 1,312 1,380 1,337 1,340 1,307 1,304 1,302

Use to support revenue position (763) (866) (233) 0 (43) 0 (33) (3) (2) 0

Use in capital financing (627) (627) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 68 0 3 0 0 0 102

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 1,648 1,545 1,312 1,380 1,337 1,340 1,307 1,304 1,302 1,404

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board

Wednesday, 9 September 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Peter Scollard (Acting-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Leslie Hills
John Burden (KICC)
Bryan Sweetland (KCC)
Lauren Sullivan (KCC)

Please Note:  Cllr Sarah Gow and Cllr Tony Rana were also in attendance

Kevin Gore District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) 
Nick May Parking Services Manager (GBC) 
Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes)

154. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from County Councillor Alan Michael Ridgers and Cllr 
Bob Lane. 

155. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2018 were signed by the Chair.

156. Declaration of Interest 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared an interest in respect of item 8b as he was a local Taxi Driver for 
the Borough of Gravesham.

157. Matters Arising from Previous Meetings 

Minute 124. Corner Protection (Yellow Lines) at the junction of Cob
Drive and Forge Lane - Requested by Cllr Bob Lane

An update was received from Cllr Bob Lane; the informal consultation carried out by Shorne 
Parish Council received 24 responses (23 in favour, one neutral, none opposed). On 30th 
May 2020 KCC wrote to confirm that they will now proceed with the TRO request and formal 
Consultation process.

The Parking Services Manager informed Members that the matter had been progressed and 
KCC were due to start the formal consultation  in the next 2-3 weeks.. 

With the agreement of the Chair, Cllr Leslie Hills asked that yellow lines be added to the 
junctions on Havisham Road, Chalk Road, Vicarage Lane and Lower Higham Road. 

Page 121 Agenda Item 14



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 9.09.2020

2

Cllr Leslie Hills advised that he had already spoken about funding with his KCC Councillor 
for Chalk, Cllr Alan Ridgers, but he was already in the process of funding a speed test in 
Lower Higham Road which would commence once Covid-19 was over. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) noted the requests and agreed to provide an 
update at the next Committee meeting. 

Cllr Bryan Sweetland advised that he was still waiting for the extension of the yellow lines at 
the junction of Northumberland Road and Brookside Road in Istead Rise. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that the action was with the contractors 
and he agreed to provide Cllr Bryan Sweetland with a date for when that would be 
completed. 

Minute 127. The Hill, Northfleet - Speeding issues and Accidents -
Requested by Cllr Peter Scollard

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that he had no update concerning the Hill 
as Emma Green, the Schemes and Planning Manager had recently left her position at Kent 
Highways. The team had been looking at increasing the lining and signage along the Hill 
though and the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained to the Chair that the 
automatic traffic counts carried out monitoring of the level of traffic in the area and took 
speed surveys to see what times of the day were busiest which then informed the team of 
trends/patterns. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) promised to come back to the Committee with an 
answer of when the traffic count surveys would be completed.  

Minute 147. Highways Works Programme 2019/20 onwards
(Information only)

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised Members that he had no update on 
measures to improve visibility and speed reduction at Sainsbury’s roundabout as the 
Schemes and Planning Team would not take any on new requests until the Covid-19 tranche 
of work for active travel and high street repair was completed.  

It was pointed out by Cllr John Burden that the requests submitted for that roundabout were 
not new and had been in circulation for over six months. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) defended the work of the team so far and 
explained that officers had visited the site and vegetation had been cutback around the signs 
and the island. All physical traffic calming measures such as new lining had been put on hold 
until the Covid works had been completed.  

Cllr John Burden further asked for an update on the proposed cycle lanes in Gravesham and 
in particular, between Meopham and Istead Rise. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that the team had been redoing the 
road linings on Gravesend Road, parts of Northfleet and the Thamesway as well as looking 
into the proposed 20mph zones in the Town Centre. The team had also been looking at 
widening the footway on Milton Road to allow for safer passage for pedestrians. 

Page 122



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 9.09.2020

3

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) agreed to inquire about the proposed cycle lane 
between Meopham and Istead Rise and provide an update to the Committee. 

Minute 148. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency

Whitehill Traffic Issues – raised by Cllr Tony Rana

The Chair invited Cllr Sarah Gow and Cllr Tony Rana to join the Committee for discussion on 
minute 148. 

Cllr Tony Rana informed the Committee that a site visit and walk around Whitehill had not 
been arranged with him and all emails requesting a date had been ignored. 

The Chair echoed Cllr Ranas comments of receiving no responses from KCC officers as he 
had received numerous complaints from officers and the public on the issue. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that he would strive to respond to emails 
promptly and then explained that a site visit was conducted to Whitehill with the Planning 
Team and Cllr Diane Marsh as she was the KCC Councillor for that area. Due to the 
restrictions in place because of Covid-19, there was a limit on the amount of people invited 
to attend the site visit which was why Cllr Tony Rana was not included. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) directed Members attention to page thirty two of 
the report as it made reference to the site visit and it was agreed that a one
way system was not suitable. There was the possibility of a design change to the roundabout 
bell mouths if funding became available. 

Cllr Tony Rana responded that he was more concerned with receiving a recommendation 
from KCC on how to deal with increased traffic issues in Whitehill Road, Sun Lane and Echo 
Square. Cllr Tony Rana insisted that a site vast needed to be carried out in Whitehill with 
himself in attendance to discuss what measures could be implemented to deescalate the 
amount of traffic seen on a daily basis. To conclude, Cllr Tony Rana also asked for the 
statistics recorded by the monitoring camera chained to the lamppost on Whitehill Road. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) assured Cllr Tony Rana that a site visit would be 
arranged in line with Government guidance of a group less than six people; with regards to 
the statistics they went directly to Cllr Marsh but he would attain them for the Committee. 

General concern was raised by the Committee that GBC Councillors were being ignored 
when they raised issues with KCC and the Chair requested that it be noted that all 
Councillors who raised an issue/request with KCC should be consulted first on any actions 
that were proposed to be implemented. 

Minute 150. Highways Works Programme 2019/20 onwards
(Information only)

Bus Hub at Garrick Street 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) directed the Committee too page 33 where there 
was an update on the Bus Hub at Barrack Row; the Bus Hub and Garrick Street had been 
combined into one scheme and would be tendered together. With regards to a question 

Page 123



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 9.09.2020

4

regarding if taxis could use the bus gate the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised 
that as part of the consultation it would ask what vehicles should be allowed to pass through 
it. If taxis were given permission to use the bus gate then the traffic regulations would have 
to be amended and an ANPR camera installed to fine those who did not have permission to 
use it. The consultation will commence in February 2021. 

The Parking Services Manager further added that he met with KCC yesterday regarding the 
Bus Hub and KCC have agreed that an ANPR enforcement camera could be installed 
however any changes to the layout of the road and enforcement would all have to go 
through the formal consultation. It was still very early on in the consultation process as to 
what vehicles would be allowed to use the Bus Hub and which would be restricted. 
Discussions were also ongoing regarding who would manage the enforcement. 

158. Formal Consultation for the remaining Controlled Parking Zones (CPZ’s) 
in the Borough 

The Parking Services Manager advised that the public notices for the controlled parking 
zones (CPZ’s) were for information and formed part of the formal consultation. The review of 
the controlled parking zones in the Town Centre was completed last year and it was the 
intention to review the remaining controlled parking zones in the area once that was finished. 
Two informal consultations have been carried out where resident feedback was gathered on 
how they wanted to see the schemes run in the future. All resident feedback was considered  
by the Parking Team and this feedback was used to propose changes to the scheme under 
the statutory formal consultation. 

A question was raised about advertisement of the consultation and if there was a social 
media campaign to promote it. 

The Parking Services Manager explained that there was not a social media campaign but 
there was a statutory requirement for it to be advertised in local papers and notices were put 
up on streets and the affected roads. In addition a letter from GBC with all the information on 
the notices was sent to every household in the CPZ. The Parking Services Manager advised 
that those three methods made sure that every resident that the CPZ affected was fully

159. Gravesham Highway Forward Works Programme - 2019/20 onwards 

The Committee were provided with the Gravesham Highway Forward Works Programme – 
2019/20 which provided Members with an update on the identified schemes approved for 
construction. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) highlighted key points from various sections 
within the report. 

Machine Resurfacing 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that the main contractors were on hold 
for six to eight weeks due to Covid-19 but they were back on track now and most of the 
resurfacing works had been completed.  

Cllr Bryan Sweetland gave his thanks to the team as the surfacing works completed on Sole 
Street were up to an excellent standard. 

Page 124



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 9.09.2020

5

Cllr Lauren Sullivan requested an update on the provision of the three roads that were 
highlighted by Members that needed urgent servicing especially St Marks Avenue and 
Haynes Road. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that the three roads were submitted to 
the unfunded list of works; authorisation to spend had not been given yet and the team were 
waiting on a Council meeting to find out what was happening to the budget for that list and 
where it would be allocated. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) assured the Committee that St Marks Avenue 
would be completed in March/April 2021 and the funds would come out of next year’s 
budget. 

Cllr Bryan Sweetland advised the budget would be released following the County Council 
meeting on Wednesday, 10 September 2020. 

Footway Improvement 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that half of Valley Drive was classified 
and the other half wasn’t; the improvements were being dealt with by the Planners. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that Arnold Avenue had been designed 
and programmed in. 

Surface Treatments 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that only Chalk Road was outstanding 
due to the gas board works and had been postponed to 2021. 

Drainage Repairs & Improvements 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that Bracondale Avenue had had a 
design created by testing and commissioning and the feasibility of that design was being 
looked into. 

There was no further update for Whitepost Lane. 

With regard to Factory Road, the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that the 
team were still trying to deal with the landowners and had encountered some problems. The 
Chair asked to be kept informed of all progress on Factory Road as he was the Governor of 
Lawn Community Primary School that was affected by the flooding. The District Manager – 
Gravesham (KCC) agreed to copy the Chair into correspondence with the drainage team so 
that he had their direct contact details. 

Cllr John Burden raised the issue of flooding at Perry Street as it was an ongoing issue and 
would only worsen over winter. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) was aware of the issue and it hadn’t progressed 
as the Enforcement Officer was on long term sick leave; it was likely that the officer would 
not return so a replacement was being sought. A total of 540 applications were received for 
the role which took a long time to sort through and short list. As a result the works were still 

Page 125



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 9.09.2020

6

on a list of works to be completed and there was a backlog as there was only one 
Enforcement Officer covering the whole of Kent. 

In response to Cllr John Burdens query regarding giving delegated authority to Gravesham, 
the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that he would talk to the registered 
magistrate when he returned from annual lave to find out if anything was possible and then 
report back to the Parking Services Manager. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) agreed to add an appendix to the report called 
‘District Manager Issues; and include the flooding at Perry Street as an item so it was 
brought to every Committee meeting until it was dealt with. 

With regard to Timber Bank, The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that there 
was another flooding recently and the residents were met with. A lot of work was carried out 
on the highway and a cleanse was commenced to ensure that there were no more flooding 
events over the winter. 

Street Lighting 

The Chair raised an issue with the lighting in Church Park Lane as it had not worked 
properly in two years and was a safety issue for local residents as there were concerns with 
muggings and drug taking. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised the Chair that when the columns were 
installed they were never transferred over to KCC’s asset list which was why they weren’t 
maintained. The Chair was assured that they had now been transferred to the asset list and 
would be maintained and monitored by KCC. 

Externally Funded Schemes 

The Chair queried who owned the land outside Northfleet Train Station as a resident had 
complained about the lack of parking enforcement there which caused problems for 
residents. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) thought it was private land which meant it wasn’t 
up to KCC to provide parking enforcement; The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) 
agreed to discuss the issue with Jaime Watson. 

Cllr Lauren Sullivan asked for further clarification on how schemes were added to the list 
such as the installation of a Pelican Crossing in Northfleet. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that Claire Venner managed the 
Schemes Planning Team and Jaime Watson was also part of the team. If anything was 
requested by GBC then the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) would pass it to the 
Schemes Planning Team who would pass it onto Jaime Watson to action. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that there were several items listed on 
page 32 which related to Dartford; they would be removed from the report before submission 
to the next meeting. 

Cllr Leslie Hills made several observations to the Committee: 

Page 126



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 9.09.2020

7

 Vegetation in the Borough had become very overgrown especially with weeds 
growing out in gulley’s/alleyways and it made Gravesham look very untidy. Kent 
Highways did undertake to maintain the vegetation and it needed serious 
maintenance as soon as possible 

 The small sign advising no access from Stone Street to Wrotham Road was far too 
small and easily obstructed; Cllr Leslie Hills was informed that a bigger sign could not 
be placed under the bridge due to the excess weight 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) responded: 

 The vegetation was far too overgrown but weed treatments had just commenced in 
Gravesham and all of the vegetation would be cut back 

 Cllr Leslie Hills had been informed incorrectly; a bigger sign could not be placed on 
the bridge due to wind loading which would cause structural damage to the bridge. 
However, a major renewal of the lining on that road would make the ‘no entry’ sign 
more visible to drivers and a new location was being sought for the ‘no entry’ sign 

Cllr Lauren Sullivan queried how it was decided that the tranche of money would go towards 
the installation of 20mph zones in the Town Centre instead of the three roads that were 
highlighted as in need of urgent servicing by GBC Councillors. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) informed Members that Emma Green, the 
previous Schemes and Planning Manager decided the schemes put forward for Gravesham 
would be the widening of Milton Road and the 20mph zones. The District Manager – 
Gravesham (KCC) advised that he had not seen the full report so GBC’s suggestions may 
have been included; the new Schemes and Planning Manager will be invited to attend the 
next Committee meeting. 

Cllr Bryan Sweetland further added that three Councillors put their names towards the 
proposed cycle path down the A227 and improving access for cyclists at the roundabout 
which received full backing from Cyclo Park. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that it was Tim Reeds team who made 
the decision but he would find out if the proposed cycle path had been included. 

Cllr John Burden advised that when the budget came forward, all Boroughs and Districts 
were asked by KCC to put forward roads that needed short term and long term work or they 
would lose any potential funding. GBC put forward the east/west and north/south cycle/foot 
path connections which would have linked the Town Centre to Cyclo Park and Meopham to 
Istead Rise. 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) agreed to look into the second tranche of funding 
for projects and report back to the Committee. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20.31pm

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Thursday, 8 October 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Baljit Hayre (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Aaron Elliott
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Emma Morley
Leslie Pearton
Lauren Sullivan
Tony Rana
Frank Wardle

Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities)
Kath Donald Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)
Sean Steer Operational Manager (Community Safety Unit)
Craig West Acting Chief Inspector, Kent Police
Kris Eberlein Detective Inspector, Kent Police
Stacey Chapman Sergeant, Kent Police
Chris Wakeford Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

79. Apologies 

No apologies for absence were received.

80. Minutes 

The Chair highlighted that at the last meeting of the Committee on 21 January 2020; the 
Town Centre Crime Review was deferred to May 2020 but this has been deferred again due 
to the pandemic.

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair of the Knife and Youth Crime Review) advised that a useful multi-
disciplinary meeting on 6 March 2020 with representatives from the Police, Schools, KCC, 
Voluntary Sector and GBC.  

The Assistant Director (Communities) confirmed that the Knife and Youth Crime Review 
meeting was very positive and there is a real commitment to meet and share actions which 
will tie into future work with the Youth Intervention Panel.

Page 129 Agenda Item 15



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 8.10.2020

2

The Assistant Director (Communities) advised that the two topic reviews have been deferred 
for the time being but their timing will be revisited at the appropriate stage and brought back 
to the Committee. However, the work already completed will be taken forward with working 
groups and the partnerships that are already in place.

The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 21 January 2020 were signed by the Chair.

81. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Leslie Pearton declared an “Other Interest” in Item 5: Modern Slavery and Human 
Trafficking – Presentation, Item 6: Gravesham Modern Day Slavery Strategy 2020-2023, 
Item 7: Local Policing Update and Item 8: Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel as his 
daughter is a Prison Officer based at Cookham Wood.

82. Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking - Presentation 

The Committee received a presentation on Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking (MSHT) 
by Detective Inspector Kris Eberlein and Sergeant Stacey Chapman that included the 
following:

 Section 1 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 - Slavery, servitude and forced or 
compulsory labour

 Section 2 of the of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 – Human Trafficking
 There is no one type of Modern Slavery; Exploitation, Recruitment, Transit, Control, 

Money.
 Barrier to disclosing; Lack of awareness that they are a victim, Unaware that help is 

available, Language barriers, Controlled movement, Fear of repercussions (to 
themselves or family)Lack of trust in authorities etc.

 Serious Crime Directorate – Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking (MSHT) Team 
will investigate all MSHT offences that have been identified as within the remit of 
serious and organised criminality and/or of a complex nature. The team deal with 
Modern Slavery not organised immigration.

 Kent MSHT statistical overview 2019 – 2020:
- 2019: 414 Investigations, 250 National Referral Mechanisms (NRM’s) 25 Arrests
- 2020: 138 Investigations, 96 National Referral Mechanisms (NRM’s) 26 Arrests
The drop in statistics is mainly due to the pandemic.

 The top 3 nationalities for victims safeguarded throughout 2019 were:
- British: 25%
- Vietnamese: 11%
- Romanian: 10%

Detective Inspector Kris Eberlein and Sergeant Stacey Chapman highlighted current 
investigations and concluded cases to the Committee.

Detective Inspector Kris Eberlein and Sergeant Stacey Chapman fielded questions from the 
Committee and highlighted the following:

 Convicted criminals are stripped of their assets.
 Section 45 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 does provide some safeguarding for 

people involved in MSHT cases and recognises that they can be both suspects and 
victims.

Page 130



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 8.10.2020

3

 People have to give their consent to enter into the National Referral Mechanism this 
is a big barrier coupled with the victim not understanding they are a victim.

 The high percentage of British victims safeguarded throughout 2019 mainly relates to 
County Lines.

 The MHST Team are working with the County Lines Team and Operation Aidant 
which focuses on child exploitation and child trafficking. Work has begun with 
secondary schools to raise awareness.

Detective Inspector Kris Eberlein and Sergeant Stacey Chapman offered to provide First 
Responder training to all Members which the Committee supported.

The Committee thanked the Police for all their good work and offered their sympathies for 
the loss of their colleagues whilst in service.

The Committee noted the presentation.

83. Gravesham Modern Day Slavery Strategy 2020-2023 

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) presented the Committee with a Strategy 
that aims to increase understanding of modern slavery in our area and that offers an 
approach that will enable the Council to fulfil its statutory obligations as a First Responder 
organisation. The Strategy supports the Council’s wider Safeguarding agenda and will 
ensure that we have procedures in place that are robust and will withstand scrutiny. The 
Strategy was presented as a draft to the Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee on 15 
September 2020 and was fully supported.

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) drew Members attention to the 6 key 
priority outcomes:

Priority 1
To raise awareness and understanding of modern slavery and its effects across Council
departments and within our local communities

Priority 2
To increase reporting of modern slavery by service providers and the general public

Priority 3
To ensure Council staff and Members have the right knowledge, skills and processes to act
confidently

Priority 4
To identify, support, protect and empower victims of modern slavery

Priority 5
To assist in the identification, disruption and bringing to justice of offenders

Priority 6
To have effective governance, processes and clear lines of responsibility

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) highlighted the following: 
 The legal framework and strategy are combined in one document so it can be used 

as a reference tool

Page 131



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 8.10.2020

4

 The Strategy will be supported by a detailed action plan
 The draft Action Plan should be completed in the next 2 to 3 weeks 
 The Council are working closely with Kent Police and Porchlight; they will be key 

partners of a small  Modern Slavery working group.
 Work will be coordinated through the CSU. The lead safeguarding officer at GBC will 

work with the Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) to get the group 
established. The group will report back report to the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee, the Community Safety Partnership and Community and Leisure Cabinet 
Committee.

 There will be a joint press release for the Gravesham Modern Day Slavery Strategy 
2020-2023 that will coincide with Anti-Slavery Day on 18 October 2020

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) fielded questions from the Committee and 
highlighted the following:

 The CSU recently had made an NRM referral in respect of an individual is believed to 
be a potential victim of labour exploitation. A separate couple had been victims of 
labour exploitation and the Council put them in emergency temporary 
accommodation whilst Porchlight completed the NRM. The couple have been given a 
reasonable grounds decision and are being supported through the Salvation Army. 

 The CSU completed the individual’s NRM referral last week and the decision is still 
awaited.

 There is currently no additional funding available to support the strategy but now the 
Council has a strategy and will soon have an action plan and working group, this is a 
good structure to support a consortium bid, should the opportunity arise.

The Committee thanked the Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) and noted the 
Gravesham Modern Day Slavery Strategy 2020-2023.

84. Local Policing Update 

The Acting Chief Inspector, Craig West provided the Committee with a Local Policing Update 
that included the following:

 These have been challenging times; Kent Police have showed resilience and 
provided a good service with several changes in place such as; community 
engagement online and chat sessions over Twitter

 Call demand for service: early lockdown saw significant drops in all calls. Calls are 
now back up to where they were before lockdown, maybe slightly higher.

 Recorded levels of acquisitive crime (burglary, robbery etc) have fallen, homes are 
safer, more people are working from home, and there are less people out on street.

 There have been drops in shoplifting offences.
 The have been rises in Domestic Abuse; people are at home together for longer 

periods, financial worries. Work has been done with ‘hidden victims’ with checks on 
people’s welfare.

 Serious violence levels have dropped.
 Kent Police are working with the Metropolitan  Police, British Transport Police, 

Spotters (Intelligence Officers) 
 Knife Arches and dog detection are being utilised. 
 There’s been a significant rise in ASB reporting due to Covid breaches (large 

gatherings and people without face masks) being recorded as ASB.

Page 132



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 8.10.2020

5

 Community Policing Team: have an operation dealing with nuisance use of vehicles / 
antisocial off-road riding.  Several warning notices have been issued, vehicles 
seized, this will continue throughout the year.

 Human Trafficking:  there is an operation coming up regarding sex workers, local 
brothels and supporting victims.

 Community Protection Notices: Antisocial Alcohol, Begging etc
 Criminal Behaviour Orders and closure orders for premises
 First charge and conviction for a Covid breach resulted in a £400 fine
 PC Wood has joined the Town Centre Policing team in Gravesend.
 Target Organised Crime Group in Gravesend - arrested 5 members last week, seized 

several vehicles, this is an ongoing investigation 
 Kent Police are rising to the challenge and thank all partners who have been involved 

and provided support including the CSU and local Councillors.

Acting Chief Inspector, Craig West confirmed that he has received a promotion to Chief 
Inspector and will be moved from the Gravesham area. The new Chief Inspector will start in 
November and there will be a comprehensive handover. Acting Chief Inspector, Craig West
thanked officers and Councillors for their support and stated that he had enjoyed working 
with everyone.

Acting Chief Inspector, Craig West fielded questions from the Committee and highlighted the 
following:

 The Police regularly liaise with the management at the Gravesend branch of 
McDonalds and the GBC licensing team. The hours of working shifts for the Police 
will be extended to cover the early part of the evening.

 Electric Scooters are on the Police’s radar.  A decision being is being made centrally 
as to what approach the Police will take.

 Analysts look at Police data and attempt to weed out what is ASB and what is a 
Covid breach.

 Police Body Cameras are working really well. The technology / equipment has been 
upgraded and is now a lot quicker to download. The equipment is being used in court 
and to record crime scenes.

The Committee and Officers congratulated Acting Chief Inspector, Craig West and Chief 
Inspector Neil Loudon for their promotions.

The Committee thanked Acting Chief Inspector, Craig West for the Local Policing Update.

85. Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel Full Agenda (21 November 
2019 - latest published) 

The Committee was presented with the minutes for the Kent and Medway Police and Crime 
Panel meeting held on Thursday, 6 February 2020 and the agenda pack for the Panel 
meeting on Tuesday 8 September 2020, which included the PCC’s Annual Report 2019-20

The Committee noted the information contained within the minutes and agenda pack. 

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.10pm

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service
	2Appendix2PayrollSharedServiceAnnualReviewSeptember2020DRAFT

	7 Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21
	Cabinet Q2 2020-21 - Appendix 2
	Front sheet
	Q2 2020-2021


	9 Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service
	2Appendix2AnnualReviewLegalSharedService20201016

	10 Additional Resources - Phase 2 of the expansion of the workforce within DSO Building Management
	Appendix 2 - Phase 1 Recruitment Update
	Appendix 3- Proposed Additional Resources for Responsive Repairs- final
	Appendix 4 - Financial Implications

	11 De-merger of the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership
	12 General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2020/21 - Quarter Two
	Appendix 2 - MTFP - V3 - 2020-21 - BMR Q2
	Appendix 3 - Investments as at 30 September 2020

	13 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  - Quarter Two 2020/21
	HRA Business Plan Appendix I
	HRA Business Plan Appendix II

	14 Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on Wednesday, 9 September 2020
	15 Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on Thursday, 8 October 2020



